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Fort Wingate Army D*,pi,ttcac=> its hist,,ryback through three loca-
tions and the colorful eve[]tsCL New Mwxico to 1850, when a post was es-
tablished by Lhe LfnitedStates War Department at Cebolleta (Seboyeta),

where a small mission had heen established byDon Joachin Codallosy Rabal
1 The post was abandoned by troopsin 1746 for Christianizing the Indians

in 1851 but was maintained until 9 September 1862, when it waa moved to
El Gallo on the south bank of the Rio De Galto, 21 miles southwest of
Mount Ta lor near the present site

3.
of San Rafael (five miles south of

Grants). This was the Fort Wingate established by Brig. General James
H. Carleton. Quarters were furnished for six companies.3 It was named

for Captain Benjamin Wingate of the 5th Infantry, who died asa result of
wounds received in the Battle of Val Verde

4near Socorro, New Mexico.
Meantime, Fort Fauntleroy, which was later to become Fort Wingate, was
established at Bear Springs at the headwatera of the Rio Puerto of the
west, on 31 August 1860.

For many years after the American occupation of New Mexico the Nav-
ajo Indisns were most persistent trouble-makers”.Their thievingoperations
along the Rio Grande extended from the upper settlements down to the vi-
cinity of Socorro, and west to the Copper Mines (Santa Rita). In spite
of many expeditions against them, and many treaties of peace, &e Navajos
were unwilling to accept the rule of the white man.

Trade routes of the Southwest could be as errantly haphazard and
changeable as the course of a dry wash. In common with the region’s lar-
ger rivers, however, the major trade routes remained reasonably constant,
determined secondarily by men after concessions to nature’s topography.5

Enclosed for all of its length by mountain slopes or redrock mesas,
“WingateValley is a hundred-mile link in one of several ancient trade
routes from the Rio Grande to California. Starting approximately at the
malpais or lava beds south of Mount Taylor, Wingate Valley curves north-
westward to the Mesa de 10S Lobos and then drops off into Arizona and
vanishes in an open plain below Fort Defiance. Antiquity of the valley
and its centuries of use by prehistoric traders are attested, for nearly
its full length, by countless ruins and in them the presence of trade
wares: pottery and beads of seashell and turquoise.

Prior to the fall of 1849, Indian Agent James Calhoun recommended
the establishment of a military post in the vicinity of Mount Taylor,

.
/. where the “Navajos and Apaches are exceedingly troublesome---not a day

paases without hearing of some fresh outrage.” In consequence, Col. John
,. Munroe, Military Governor of New Mexico, stationed a company of dragoons-:

at Cebolleta, on the eastern approach to Wingate Valley.

1 ‘fwitchell,The Leading Facts of New Mexico History, Vol III.
2 Special Order 176, Hq. Dept. N.M., Sept 27, 1862, Post actually es~b

lished 0ct,22, 1862.
3 American Guide Series, New Mexico, p. 322
4 M. H. Thomlinson, Col., New Mexico Magazine, October 1946

L
5 .McNitt, Frank, Indian Traders,
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Navajo (Olntry - I.C,rL~Lii;. ‘e, .

Possibly there were other spots on ttt~trai1 that would have served
the purpose as well as the one selecL~.d,but C)ju del 13s0 (called Shash

B’toh, Bear Springs, by the Navajo becmse bears were so often seen
eating acorns in the oak thickets that grew slung thetiny streams fed by
the spring) was well and favorably kdown-here was a traditional ~devous
of the Navajo; here Manuel Antonio Chavez and a civilized Navajo boy
had stopped in 1834 to tend wounds received in a battle with the Navajo

at Canyon de Chelly. This battle resulted from a raiding partyofNewM~-
icane seeking Navajo captives to sell as slaves. Unfortunately for them,
their small party of fifty men encountered a huge ceremonial encampment
at Canyon de Chelly and all.were killed except Chavez and the Navajo
boy. The boy died at Bear Springs. It was the site of the first~ce
conference between the Navajos and the lJnitedStates and here the first
treaty was reached in November 1846 when Colonel Alexander W. Doniphanof
the First Missouri Volunteers met with the Chiefs of “The People”at Bear
Springs.

I

1“—
ALEXANDER W. DONIPHAN

Doniphan was serving under General Kearney, who was engaged in the
war of expansion against Mexico. It was he who first promulgated a code
of laws for New Mexico and appointed a governor.2 Kearney had promised

\. the New Mexicans protection against raiding Indians in return for their
SUppOrt Of the United Statea in the War, and so ordered deta=~ent~ of
Doniptin’s men out to put teeth in the pacification efforta with:
Indiens -

the
to invade the Navajo country, releaae captives, rec~eim stolen

property and awe or beat the Indians into submission. It was after the

1. Thomlineon, H.H., “Indian Country Outposts,” New Mexico Maga~lne
October 1946,(from National Archives Records).

>

2. Army Almanec, 1950, p.947
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march of these detachments through the Navajo country, when they worI
grudging admiration from the Indians, that the meeting took place at
Bear Springs during which the treaty was signed. The whole campaign
lasted only six weeks.

Commanding one of the detachments into the heart of the Navajo
country was ● Captain Reid, with thirty picked men. Thin hendful of
soldiers traveled always under a suspended sentence of massacre. Hun-
dreds of NavaJos were on allsides of them,sometimes traveling and camp-
ing with them. What saved the soldiers was the very audacity of their
vamture. It vindicated the rumor now traveling the wh~le Indian coun-
try that this breed of whitee had better be respected.

Aa Reid’s thirty men got farther into theNavajo country,the Navajo
cama by the hundreds to look them over. They had danced with some of
the Pueblo Indiane over Navajo acalpe; now, finding a party with aomo
fresh Pueblo scalpe, they chuffled with the Navajo in the vangeancc

~.. ?@ $oiaod ths Wewjo -s ●nd they gaped at tho s- bat$lu.
They traded their worn out horses for fresh mules; got buckakine to re-
place their tattera end oat ●round campfires while hundreds of Navajoa
danced, ●ang ●nd ralated incldentaof thair great velor. Raid fhallY
collected moro than 800 Navajoe ●nd harangued them into ● prmaiea to
meet with Doniphen and maka ● treaty. Ha returned then to tha ●ncamp-
nnt which had been wvod to Cubaro. Tha Navejo who had ●greed to folh?
tha took up tb trail, but on the way met other Indiana who predicted
that Donlphan would maaeacre them, ●nd so turned back and wmramat among
the Iodiana who finAlly reignedtho paace treaty.

Doniphen ruchod the Bur Sprirqa randevoua on Novambor 21, 1346
and hordu of Wavajoe came to liaton to “Long Knife,” so called bacauae
of Ma 1X ●abar of comand. Thero followed the slow, stately ●nd pra-
poetarow cerwmiee by which the Indiana and Army officers wore accus-
tomed to reach •~aamtm - paradu, fueta, drama ●nd ●ndleso oratory.
The Ilavajocla~ ALlo@Amco with thakmican$ who had cow hsra to

mb m? 00 tha Uew Xexicana, ●nd when tha Americans ●eked the Indians
not to do tti S- they could not undaretand~ with WIM dlff~cultya
Boniphem got that point clured up ●ndchu New @i@xicancclaemd ●s Amcr-
icama who-t mot b. murdarod ●nd robbed.

A trutyaa fomel ma m with ● major powor wao drawn up. By itD’

tame tbe M8vajoa ●grud to cherish cha Wewllaxicme ●nd the ?uobloa a~
wall. Domiphm, Jacksom amd Gilpin ●iunad it on bahalf of Jamae K.?elk,
tba ‘W- Fatbed’ in Wuhiegton, ●nd no lcee than fourtaae Navajo
CM&O, Id by Sarcillo Largo a young Navajo Chief of prominmca,scrat-
cbcd tbcir croesu wadornuth. Aft= it wae over, Domiptin ud~ ● d~-
tour to & Z&ml ?tmblo ●nd signed ● treaty with th- ●lso. It provod
to be worth ● little mrc thandm Navajo treaty for the Zunia wera la.-
QrlibA

1 CSPtAiU (Iatcr Camaml) Raid waa ● pionaar lando~*r in Kenfl- cit~~
llismwri. its waa ●lected to Con~eae in 1860. ~

w, Auea#t 25, 1960. (Copy in dapot historical files.)
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MJrse Lode !Jlsudlbignalling t,,],Eir.r ..s~dby the Army in the Na-
vajo ~ounLry un Jtlne21, 1860 and was fu!jndto be a highly successful
means of comm,)nicationbetween military units.1

Such was the history of the site at which, in August, 1860, a new
post was established by Companies E, F and K, 3rd Infantry~2 Establish-
ed for the protection of the whites, it was designed for a ,garrison of
eight companies and named Fort Fauntleroy.

Record of Events - (See par. XI, Circular (A.G.O.) Sept. 30, 1856)

--@

?=ti &~4
.

W?%%%@%?-t=’
w

(Facsimile of=elpt from post return announcing the establishment of
Fort Fauncleroy. Taken from National Archives Records)

Colonel ‘Thomas‘Turner(Little Lord) Fauntleroy was Department Com-
mander when this post was named for him. He fought Indiana off and on
in New Mexico for ten years before the Civil War.3 While thus engaged,
Colonel FaunLleroy wrote to General Winfield Scott:

The greatest embarrassment arises from the fact that
many of the claims set up against the Indians of New Mexico
for pl~ndering, stealing stock and the like, are either fa-
bricated or to a considerable degree exaggerated, and if war
is to be commenced upon the simple presentation of these
clalms, the cause for war becomes interminable, or the Indians
must be extirpated.

As it was hardly customary to honor a living officer by naming a
post after him, it is quite likely that some back-slapping went on, be-
cause we firldthat at about the same time this happened, Fauntleroy
himself recommended that another new post in his department be named
Fort Floyd, in honor of the then Secretary of War.4 (Bath were from
Virginia and both “went South” during the Civil War; Fauntbroy turning
in his resignation on May 13, 1861). A provisional reserveof 100 square

1. Army Almanac, 1950, p.941
2. General Order No. 6, AGO, 12 March 1860 and General Order No. I,A@,

18 January 1861, National Archives.
3. Keleher, Will, Turmoil in New Mexico, footnote 94, p. 138. (H.R.

Mis. ~OC. No. 85, 36th Congress, 1st Session, May 21, 1860)
4. Twitchell, History of Arizona and New Mexico
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miles was laid out at that time, with east Bear Springs as its center.
Occupying the region at about the time of the American entry was a band

of Navajo Indians led by Chief Mariano, who used this section as an ag-

ricultural and watering place. Lake Mariano to the north was named for

this Chief, whose descendants still live in this vicinity.

On February 16, 1861, peace negotiations with the Navajo resulted
in a treaty being signed at the fort. Barboncito, one of their Princi-
pal chiefs, was among the Indians who signed.

Fort Fauntleroy had a short and troubled existence. The month
following its establishment, Indians attempted to stampede tlw?ak herd,
and not long after, Major H. H. Sibley (as a Confederate he commanded
the troops that captured Santa Fe) used the post as a base for his cam-
paign against Indians in the Chusca Valley. On the first of January,
1861, the garrison consisted of Companies C, D, F, G and K,Fifth Infan-
try, commanded by Captain N. B. Rossell, Captain William Chapman and
Captain Henry R. Selden (in that order), but great events were ‘mpend-
ing and this force was steadily diminshed until by sunsnerall the re-
gulara were-gone. Their placrnwere taken by four companies of the New

. Mexico Volunteers.

In September, 1861, there was an unfortunate “collision” b~tween
the volunteers and Navajo Indians at the post over a horse race. At
that time, Fort Fauntleroy was an oasis in the r=ote Indian Country.
The Navajoa went there on a fixed day each month, ordinarily the first
Saturday, to receive rations of meat, flour and other provisions. The
rations were distributed in the hope, and with the expectation, that the
Indians would reciprocate by ~ot raiding the white settlement. For the
NavaJos, ration days were days of importance and excitement. Hen, wcmen
and children traveled great distances, on horseback and on foot, to see
the fort, watch the soldiers, and get their provig~ons for the ensuing
month. A custom had grown up at the fort of having the Indians race
their horses against soldiers horses. Among the Navajos, horse racing
was mom than a sport, it was almost an obsession. They were willing
to gamble almoet anything they had - money, horses, a wife or two - on
the outcome of a match race. Indians and soldiers bet freely on the

outcome of the races. Some officers bet horses instead of money. If
they won, they could sell the horsea to the gover~ent foK cash. ~they
lost, they could pay their bets with horses belonging to thegovernment.
It waa not difficult for them, with the assistance of conniving clerks,
‘to adjuat their accounts to cover UP their manipulations.

.,

Ration day.it Fort Fauntl&roy, September 22, 1861, began like most
other’ratiqh days. The weather was ideal. The tang of fall wae in the
air, heavy with the scent of cedar and pinon. The Navajos vern in good
humor on thie particular day, willing to unbend and be quite friendly
in their own stolid way. The soldiers, enthusiastic ●bout the horse
racing program scheduled for the afternoon, mingled freely vith the
Indians, tradin~ tobacco for Indian trinkets ●nd whiskey for Navajo
blanketa.

1 Ke’leher,Will, Turmoil in New Mexico, p. 297.
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The aitern[>onhorse rdce> proved the big attraction of the day.
Horses won and horses lost. ‘Indian and white man, in a spirit of true

sportsmanship, paid off on their wagers. The final and most important
race of the day was between Post Surgeon Kavanaugh’s quarter horse,with
a Lt. Ortiz riding, and an Indian pony owned by Pistol Bullet, a giant
Navajo who stood six feet 4 inches in his moccasins. Large sums were
bet on this race. Both entries were off to a good start, but in a mat-
ter of seconds the Navajo rider and his horse were ineerious difficulty.
AIL the spectators, or so it seemed, r~shed out at once to learn what
had happened. It was seen that the bridle rein of Pistol Bullets’horse
had been recently slashed with a knife, which caused the rider to lose
control of his mount. In the meantime, Kavanau8h’s horse had finished
the course. Claiming they had been tricked, the Navajos angrilydemand-
ed that the race be run again. But th+ judges, all soldiers, held that
the defective bridle had just been hard luck for the Indians. They of-
ficially declared Ka~-anaugh’shorse winner of the race. When an inter-

!
retor announced the decision and the Indians realized that they had
ost theil bets, they made a wild rush for the inside of the fort. The

Officer of the Day ordered the sentries to shut the gates and keep all
Navajos on the outside.

TC celebrate the victory, the Kavanaugh horse was paraded about im-
side the post gr~unds. Crowds of soldiers, beating drums and playingon
fifes and fiddles, joined in the celebration. An apparently druicenNa-
vajo tried to force his way inside the fort. Sentry Morales fired at
hlm point blank. Hearing the shot, the Navajos still outside the fort
bolted for open country, dlagging squaws and children with them. sol-
?Jets,with rifle and bayonet, pursued. In the melee, twelve Navajos
were kiiled and forty wounded. The terrified Indians fled for their
lives, leaving thkir,dead and wounded behi,ld.

rhe Cornrndnd”ingOfficer ordered the Officer of the Day to bring out
cwo MuurrtdinHawitzers, to tire upon the Indians, and to continue firing
at twm as l?ng’as they were within range. When the Sergeant in charge
or In..howitzer, seekiug an excuse to’delay firing,pretended he had not
.Jriderstoodt~.eorder, tk.eOfficer of the Day cursed him and told him to
obey order~ .Irhe would be shot. The Hcwitzers were then placed inpoa-
:tions and fired repeatedly in cne dirtictionof the fleeing Navajos.
T’hv.swere treaties destroyed.

September 22, 1861, marked a day of vast importance in Navajo mem-

ory. From that day forward, all Navajo Indiana exceptinga few squawa,
who were favorites of the officers, remained udlesaway from Fort Faunt-
leroy. Ration day at the fort waa discontinued. The Navajcrs nursed
their grievances and waited for a day of retaliation. Officers at the
fort, in an attempt to make another peace treaty with the Indians, sent
out some of the favored squawe to try to arrange a meeting, ~t all the
women got for their trip was a good flogging.by the Indians.

1, Twitchell, The Leading Facta of New Mexico History, Vol. HI,
Footnote 200, P. 340
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In September, dlSO, a general order of the Department of New Mex-
ico changed the name of the post from Fauntleroy to Lyon)l to honor
General Nathaniel Lyon, who had been killed at the Battle of Wilson’s
Creek a few weeks earlier. (Fauntleroy had resigned his coasnission to
Join the Confederate Army). Lyon and Canby, the latter now Department
Commander, had served together for many years as junior officers in the
Second Infantry.

A letter from a soldier at Fort Lyon, dated late’in S_rstates
that the garrison consisted of Companies A, B and C, Second New Mexico
Volunteera, ccmmanded by Captains Manuel D. Pine, Jose D.timd Manuel
Baca y Delgado. Lieutenant Colonel Manuel Chavez was Pent Coasnander,
the same Manuel Antonio Chavez who had bathed his wounds at Bear Springe
in 1834. He had been rescued by Mexican shepherds, taken to Cebolleta
and in 1860 was cmnmissioned Lt. Colonel in the Second Regiment New
Mexico Volunteer Infantry and sent to Fort Lyon. The writer of the
letter complained bitterly of the activities of the sutler, one R. T.
Gillespie, a “Secessionist”. Another canplaint waa registered during
the early months of the Civil War by one Private William Need of the
New Mexico Territorial Militta, who wrote,z

“I have visited five forts-Buchanan, Brecken-
ridge, McLane, Fillmore and Fauntleroy - withinth?
last six months, and at each of theoe posts I havo
uniformly found the Sutlera to be bold, ~avoved
Secessionists in favor of the Confederate States
of ihe south, real, live, pure adamentine JeffIhvb
rebels - sucking blood, charging about five pricee
for everything they have to cell to Union soldler~”
In locating Fort Fauntleroy for his readere, Pri-
vate Need wrote, “Fort Fauntleroy ia located about
140 ❑iles west of Albuquerque, a town on the Rio
Grande. It is far advanced in the Navajo Country-
---The distance from here to Old Fort Defiance (&-
serted) is about 45 miles; from Fort McLane (burttt
down or destroyed) about 120 nearly due south.”

On October 7 of that year, the Pony Expreea wae officialydacon-
tinued and other means of timely ccusaunicationebetween stationa M to
be devised.3

1. General Order No. 41, Dpt. New Mexico, 25 September 1861, Natlo~l
Archivee.

2. Keleher, Will, Turmoil in New Mexico, p. 395.
3. Army Almanac, 1950, p 948.
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LHAPTER 11

OLD FORf WINGATE

I

i.

EarlY in November, 1861, the trOOpS at Fort Lyon comprised four com-

panies of the Second and Third New Mexico Volunteers but before theeml of

December they were gone. General Canby was assembling all his available

force to meet Sibleys’ threat from the south and southwest. General Sib-

ley organized a group of Confederates around El Paso for the purpose of
traveling up the Rio Grande through Albuquerque into colorado. There, he

planned to sieze the mines to help finance the Confederacy. Fort Lyon was
abandoned on 10 December, 1862,1 and the troops moved to the fort at San
Rafael, which had been established in October and first garrisonedbylleld
and Staff, and Companies B, C, E and F, 1st New Mexico Volunteers, under
Colonel J.F. Chavez.z (No record has been found of the physical aspects
of old Fort Lyon).

The troops from Fort Lyon, with the others, met the Confedera&forces
near Socorro in the Battle of Val Verde. The Union forces finally with-
drew from the battle in defeat, but it was a near thing for Sibley. It
was during this battle that Captain Benjamin Wingate sufferedfatal wounis.
The Confederates occupied Albuquerque and went further up the Rio Grande
to occupy Santa Fe.

The Union forces, reinforced by troops from Colorado, engaged the
Confederates.at’Glorietta, east and a little north of Santa Fe. There thy
defeated the Confederate forces.

Two old leather bound books found (in 1957) in the District Court
Clerks vault in Albuquerque give interesting sidelights on the life of ~he
troops at these old posts. ‘They are a day-book and ledger of F. E. Ka.?a-
naugh, sutler, stationed with the troops at Fort Fauntleroy and Fort Lycn,
and later at a union supply depot and small garrison of 42 men at Cubero
(also spelled Covero in some of the post returns) 60 miles east of Albu-
querque.3

Kavanaugh was sutler, post surgeon and confederate spy - he operated
the post exchange, selling the soldiers “spirits” in considerable qudtieq
horse blankets, chances on raffles, red flannel drawers, etc; doctored
their ailments; and swore secret allegiance to the confederacy. Among his
customers in the Fort Fauntleroy days were many well known New MexicomUi-
tary men, including Colonel E:R.S. Canby, Captain Benjamin Wingate and
Captain H.R. Selden. ln those days, a few civiliana were hired by the
post; interpreters at $40.00 per month and one ration for Navajo Inter-
preters, and $50.,00per month and one ration for Spanish Interpreters;
teamstera at $40.00 and one ra’tion,herders at $20.00 and a rationarl wa-
gon masters at $50.00 ,andone ration.4
1 Outline Index, Military Posts & Stations, Book L, Reservation Division,
AGO, National Archives, p. 529.
2 U. S. Army Commands (Army Posts, 3-ring binder marked Posts: Lament -
Yates, R. G.’98=,NatiorialArchives.
3 Howard Bfyanp AILiuquer@e ‘$ournalNewspaper, December 19, 1957.
4 Ration: da~l~ food four”’oneperson
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On March 3, 1862, ~ garrison at Cubero was surrendered to four Con-
federate civilians - none other t~lanR. T. Gillespie of whom the soldier
had complained so bitterly, Dr. F. 5. Kavanaugh of the unfortunate horse
race, and two others, George Garden!lierand R. T. Thompson. Kavanaugh
took charge of the post until a detachment of confederate soldiersarrived
from Albuquerque on March 5, and business continued aa usual at the post
exchange.

Concentration of the troops at Fort Wingate (SariRafael) increased
the garrison there to three companies, including one of California vol-
unteers and two of the first New Mexico Volunteer Infantry, under the
command of Lt. Colonel J. Francisco Chavez. It waa occupied late inScp-
tember by companies D and G, First Cavalry (Old First Dragoons) umkr~-
tain H. R. Selden, then of the Fifth Infantry but who later died in the
service as Colonel of the First New Mexico Volunteer Infantry, and who
is best remembered at that old ruined fort on the river near Radium
Springs. In 1862, Chavez and his men accompanied Colonel Pino to Val
Verde and took part in that battle.

Old Fort Wingate saw much activity. It was built solidly, with the
idea in mind that the post would be the central ❑ilitary depot of sup-

1 During May and June of 1863, the troopaplies for the Navajo Country.
were engaged in erecting buildings, cutting timber, making roads, etc.
The exertions of Lt. CO1. J. Francisco Chavez, the C~t@inS Officer,
were indefatigable in superintending the buildings, ●nd the laboreof 1st
Lt. Benjamin Stevens, 1st New Mexico Cavalry, A. A. Q. M., were ●qUallY
arduous. During May there were some 25 citizen employees, and about 75
or 80 extra-duty men engaged in the various departments such = Carpen-
ters, Millwrights, Masons, Timber Cutters, Road Makers, Adoba Makers, ad
the like. A contract for making 380,000 adobe bricks was awarded to
Messrs. Pool and McBride, to be used for erecting the officers and com-
pany quarters, Quartermaster Storehouse, and Hospital. The tar~et date
for cunpletion of the fort was late summer or early fall.

The diagram, or plans of the fort,cut the cardinal points at right
angles and a large space was kept between officers and company quarters
for a parade ground. A row of Sycamore trees were planted ●round thebcm-
dere to afford a cooling shade during the hot summer days. As it was
generally believed this was to be a permanent post, no pains were spared

in adopting its capacity to minister to the comforts of the command, as
well aa beautifying the environs and making it secure from * ●ttacks of
all “outside barbarians”.

A writer for the Rio Abajo Weekly Press noted that on the 25th and
30th of May, Major J. Howe Watts, Paymaster of the Department, paid off
four companies of New Mexico Volunteers in GRF.ENBA~, Up to the 20th of
February, 1863.

The CommlseeryBuilding, completed in May, waeimnsidered om of the
best buildings of the kind in the territory. A magnificent “Baile” was
held there as a christening party on May 29. All tht gay Senores ●nd
Senoritas of the post and from the neighboring villesee of Cebolleta and
Cubero attended. Uvwards of $12130.00were subscribed ●nd Daid by the —
1. RiO Abajo Weekly press, Albuquerque, N.M., June 239 1863

10



officers and soldiers cf tl,e po>t Lh~c ,Jm~,erfor the benefit of the’’suf-
-. fering poor” of Soci)rr(~C,uncy.

Some experimental ~armlng was undertaken at the post during tk sum-
mer of 1863. Government officers and Padre Rafael Chavez found that

wheat grew well - the nights were too cold for corn - and onions and beans
flourished. The same writer who commented on the troop payday remnmended
that tomatoes be planted since they contained a medicinal value, that
Jerusalem Artichokes should be cultivated for the feeding of stock, es-
pecially for the fattening of swine, and that the cranberry plant was
decidedly the best line at that time, when jelly was bringing from $2.00
to $3.00 a bottle, and the experiment of planting them would “cost only
the expenditure of a few dimes, an ounce of common sense, and a little
elbow grease”.

Fort Wingate was one of Kit Carson’s bases in the highly successful
and ruthless campaign waged by General Carleton against & Navajo and saw
the departure of the greater part of that nation for Bosque Redondo (Fort
Sumner). New Mexico Volunteers, commanded by Lt. Col. J. Francisco Cha-
vez, arrived at Fort Wingate on Feb. 1, 1863, marking, the first step in
Carleton’s campaign to chaatise the tribe.1 The first Navajos were taken
to Fort Sumner in the spring of 1863. !JhileGen. Carleton was at FortWin-
gate, Colonel Chavez sent for Barboncita and Delgadito, his brother, but
they did not reach the fort until the General had left. They overtook him
at Cubero, where they talked with him about moving the Indians to Fort
Sumner. Carleton told them that all Navajos who desired to be friends
must remove to Bosque Redondo “under the protection of the government”.
Barboncito’s reply was that “he would not go so far from his country but
would remain with his family somewhere in the neighborhood of this Post
(Fort Wingate) and that he did not intend to fight even if he we~e to be
attacked by the troops-they might kill him but he would not run”.

Colonel Chavez held a council with Navsjo Chiefs in the summer of
1863. He urged them to get tneir people to come to terms. Barboncito,
Delgadito and Sarracino with Jesus Arviso (Spanish captive and Navajo in-
terpreter) came to Fort Wingate from beyond Zuni. When informed by Chavez
that they had only a few days to comply with Carleton’s ultimatum, Bar-
boncito again replied that neither he nor his people would leave Navajo
country for Fort Sumner. Carleton had told Chavez in a letter written
June 23, 1863 that July 20 would be the time limit for the Navajos to
surrender to the troops or be killed. Orders received LyCol, Chavez read
in part “- - - after that day (July 20, 1863), every Navajo able to bear
arms will be attacked and destroyed or captured unless he comes in before
July 20th. The rule is a plain one and needs no future correspondence to
define its meaning”.3
1. Will Keleher, Turmoil in New Mexico, pg 303, 308, 487, 489
2. J;Lee Correll, Bafboncito Navajo “Naat” “Anni”, Nava)o Tourist Guide,

1966,
3. Twitchell, Leading Facts of New Mexico History, Vol. III, footnote

206, page ‘345,
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Kit Carson arrl .! !,- .. 1363,1
days receiving suppii’s ~u ...:L tWO

there tO wait for KWO SIJ,;:. :.J,., ~~,d/... d c~ to

he stay,:dfrom JULY -~ ““ ..., IL5R : :I+:ore

.

and remained three
companies ofhismam
Ojo del Oao where
continuing on hia

march to Canyon de Ci]e;:: .’,~~-.p-irh:.s -xnair.edat the fort until

the supplies reached C;e’ ,— d (:3:,, -. is march.

A letter from Ge[:?:,. . ‘.-t>):2 ‘a : ‘:~ad, “If any Indiana de-
sire to give themselvcj .,:>.,../ .. Je. L ,..~ .nd sentto Fort WJngate,
with a request from rhac ~ .! Je ...’ :, LOS Pines.” The initial

consignment of 51 Nav~, .. - ‘:, -1; ~~-~.‘,..!ac Bosque Redondo on
Sept. 4, 1863, by Lt. ‘r’. ~~ ‘ f :11”‘-LL.~ ~e~ Mex~cQ’voLuncaorg-
‘1’heprisoners were t~k:I1. ‘-t - ~ r~ ‘*.’..~, ;.,,enLO Fort Union where

they were confined tor 4 ,.. .4,~.: 3osq,.Le.

Kit <axstin,about 1855

In tha fall and winter of 1863 the Navajos harrassed the troops ●t
Fort Uingate. Carleton wrote a scolding letter to Chavez, criflcizinghfm
for allowing officers to go an leave to Cubero, some 20milaa ●way. Cde@n
said, !ls~ll the Indians ~l~ays get the best of Fort Wingate trOOpa? I-e

that officers from your post RO to Cubero. They have no dutiee there.
1 ‘LWtchell, Leading Fac~f New Mexico Hisrory, VO1. III
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Send me an abstract of all officers who have been absent from your com-
mand since Oct. 31, 1863. Stop half of their pay when absent. Every

train going from Fort Wingate
to Fort Canbyl will be e~~orted e&iSIltly “

and the escort will be commanded by an officer - - - the escort to each
train should have spies on ahead, on the flanks, and in tb rear to pre-
vent e.urprise.”

In 1863, a troop of U. S. Cavalry was ambushed by
Arrows (present site of China Springs). An oJd Navajo
version of the encounter:

Navajos ct Many
Later gave this

l!~e found out that more soldiers were being sent tO Fort Wingate
near Bear Springe. Some Navajos had been there and spied on them. A
band collected at Many Arrows. They hid behind the rocks - all in; a
line and not far behind. A troop of soldiers came up the road, and the

I

Navajos all shot at once. Chaali Sani shot the soldier captain ri in
the middle of the back of the neck and the bullet came out through his
eye. Other soldiers? which ws called ‘Those ~’J2sh00t ‘rm ‘he ‘i ‘ ‘
were shot down. Some got away on their horaea..

I
Discovary of gold near Prascott in 1863 brought much traffic Iovar

the western road, which had to be protected. Major Edward B. WhiRple,
First Infantry, California Volunteer, left hera on Nov. 7, 1863 to ee-
tablish Fort Whipple in Arizoaa. The next year the fort was ueedaa the
basa for an expedition against Apaches on the Gila and San Carka rive=
Ona of the commander about thie time was Major Ethan.Eaton.3

Harraesed by the soldiers, who burned and destroyed~ their crops
and cut down their fruit trees, Barboncito and Manuelito both gav.d up
and went to Fort Sumner in 1864, but soon decamped and returned toth?ir
native haunts. In the fall of 1866, Barboncito and?tanu~o surrenderaci
The need for medical attention for himself (he was badly woundad in the
arm) and food for hia starving band prompted Manuelito to surrender at
Fort Wingate on September 1, 1866, with 23 other Navajos, mostly rela-
Livam,fl hen it bacame kno= that Manuelito had surrendered, odserblt-

ditch leadere of the tribe decided to give uptha fight. Chief Barbon-
cito, with a band of 21, surrendered near Fort Wingate on Nov.7, 1866,
followed soon after by 43 othere, On Novembar 28, 1866, another band
of 138 men, woman ‘andchildren came in to the fort from the LitLLeColo-
rado Country and surrendered, along with their 400 sheep and goats IIand
60 horses. I
1. Fort Defianca. It was renamed Fort Canby during the Navajo Carqaign

of 1863-64..,
2. McNitt, Frank, Indian Traders
3. Keleher, William A., The Long Walk, article in tha

depandent Neweuap~ Gallup, N.H.~ Aug. 6, 19S7.
4. Latter from Sgt. R. L. Baldwin (retired), Socorro,

depot historical filaa. ,,
13
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c,r.npaniesof the 37th
Iner!. The Volunteers

Chief Barboncito
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CHAPTER 111

NEW FORT WINGATE

In 1868, after languishing four years on the reservation at Fort
Sumner until broken in spirit and ready to conform to white mensks,
the Navajoa were permitted to return from their exile on the Pecos,
but it waa felt that “old” Fort Wingate was too far from the Indian
country to permit efficient supervision of the inhabitants so the lo-
cation on the Rio de Galto was abandoned, after a period of use of
only aix yearo, and the “naw” Fort WinKate waa eatabliahedon the site
of old Fort Lyon (Fauntleroy) at OJO d~l Oso.

Doors, window sashes and vegas from the old fort
●way ●nd uead in other buildings in tha countryside,l
lowing years the buildings were gradually destroyed and

were carried
In the fol-

thelmdkaaed
or sold to farmers until by 1959 the only tracea left were a few
perlmetar posts set deep into the ground. There were barely anough
to trace the outline of 2 sidea of the old fort. All the Sycamore
trees were gona.

Major Charles J. Whiting, 3rd Cavalry, escorted 7,000 Indiana
back to Fort Wingate. He had in hie company a Col. Cre8sey ●ndLt.
William Ayers of the Third Cavalry, Lt. William Kreuae of the 37tiIn-
fantry, and the Indian Commiaaary, Mr. Rosenthal, ●ll of whom he
complimented highly in his reports. He stated that he doubted that
the samenumber of troopa wac evar marched through ● country doing aa
little damage ●s those 7,000 Indiano did.2

The lifa of the troops at these early forte waa no eaayaie~~
Death by torture; hungar and thirst; scorching heat and bitter cold;
●buse ●nd neglect; for a whole year, 1878, Congraas left the Arl!!y
without pay - such was the lot of the Army, a lot accepted widt~agc
and stoicism ●a it carried on to fulfill its miaaion of opening upthe
West by the conquact of the hoetile tribes.3

On Jan. 13, 1868, a citizen of Cubero reported to the Coumander
at Fort Wingate, Capt. V. K. Hart of the 37th Infantry, that Indiana
had raided between Wingate and Cubero, They drov~ off over 3,000
ahcep, killed ona man and wunded two others, Tha citizan reported
ttht,he eaw.3 Indiana V*

A
rad upeg him, but ha ●scaped ●nd made hia

,wey to the fort for ~-’ protection for the people of Cuburovkdch
h~tf Hart was unkbh to’give for lack of cavalry,

All of thair problame were not with Indiana. On Mar. 19, 1868,
Lt. W*lla #iicharda waa Officer of the Day, For some reaaon not made
claer in the report, hc ●earchad the quartera of Juan Jose Junola,
whose family waa employad aa laundreoaea, and found fourteen bottlas
of whiahy ata$hed ●way. Perhapa juotly feeling that this wae ● bit
mor, whiskay than the man naeded for his own comaumption, the Officer
of the Day conffacated the whiskey ●nd reported the incident tolatI.t.

S* ~ena 11. 3rd Cavalry. Lt. Ruaaell turned thg femilv out of the
1 & 2Ltr Port Win~te, Mey 7, 1869, Arrott Microfilm Roll 18,Rodgera

Litirary,Highlanda University, Laa Vegaa, N,M.
3 Fairfax Downey, The Old Army, ~rdnance MaMq@ , Jan-Feb’60.
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And on the 2Lth dIY of :!.,:s.amt:’month, a Lt.. Baldwirirqmrted b
three prisoners ,escapedfrom rhe guardhc>usebecause the hfgk alkali

.
content of the adobes ca~lsed them to crumble, maicinge~cape easy. It,

was only large enough to accomudate[W to 10 prisoners. .’. ,.

,,

Life apparently siowed down enough that the’tiroopd andoffice”rs
grew ,somewhatlax in the pe~form.inceof garrison duties, for ~ De~4,
1868, Capt.Hart felt it necessary cc reprimand his officers for,;t%e.
Ioose,,andunmilitary ,J#3n~l&Lii)wt,ich~~+rtainduties were performed.lle
wrote, in part:

/

“It is not the intent.of the order which
.. requires an officer to attend Roll Call

that he should merely get outsl.deof tlis
quarters in time to receive the report.,
from the Ist Sgt. (sometimes standing ..,,

at a distance Uf 75 to 100 yards tithe
1

Ccxapanyparade) but the order is issued .
to the end% that an officer should be
actually present - - -“3 .’

., .,

Mbat of.the Navajo people wececontmt to return to the ieser-
wation and a law-ab-tdikgexistence, but thexe were+the ever - present
few who continued BQ be troublemakers. In Marzh, 1869, Lt. Henry
Ayars had to,take & party of soLdiers out in pursuit of Indiana who
broke into the post hospital sture room.4 .ByJ1.ne16, Mej. A.W.E=ns
reported that the conduct of the “bad” Indians was getting ,worse.Be-
aidee frequent thefts committed at Forts Wingate and Defisnct+ there
had been ●weral. instances of serious robberies of animals frod the
frontier settlements by thieves who app.rently.lived close enough to

., the fort to be aware of the reduced condicion of the garrison. .Three
animals ware stolen from Roman Baca ot San Mateo because, according
to the Indians, Baca had one or more Navajo peons in his possession,
whom he refused to release. Although Mr. Baca denied the charge Ma-

.- jor Evans expreosed the opinion that it was true.
,.

.
.4., U,n~tedStates Troops were engaged in war against ~e,S’outhern.-
,, , Apa&hee..aboutthis time. In both May and June, groups of ‘Coyotero

Apaches presented themselves,,”
at the fort to declare Chag -theyhsdno

co&ecti@ tiiththe hostile tribes and to seek assurance that they
., . . could G,ontinuatheir farming in peace. The first of these groupe,

,. fouk Ageches and a Mexican captive, were led by “Miguel” (The One-
,: . ... ~$ed]~,qpd’the other, a group of 15 Apaches, led by “Pedro’~~.Delga-

d~to, %kmbst Dromimnt of the Navaio leaders at that”tim&. ●ureed
l&
%.
4.

2 Ltr Ft. Wingate, WY 7, 1869, ArrotE Microfilm Ra~l,18
G@$ular, Arrott Microfilm Roll 18, Rodgers Librdry, lIighlandsU
S~ec.<&der 26,,Ft.Wingate, Mar 22, 1869, Arrott Mi+ofilmRoll
18, Rodgers Library, Highlands University. ..”.
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. .

. .

to have the Apactt::sbettled un tt,e Navaje RFS*rV?:IO’I1

The Mexican people in the area aggravate,itr~llbleswith the
Indians somewhat by their practice of rcvertgi[t~a ~1’origupon the
first innocent party met.2 Delgadito and his bands were consider-
ably excited during May of 1869 by the kilLing of a woman andchlld
and the wounding of a man, all of their band, as”a revengeur?rnure
by the people of McCarty’s Ranch in the Romances above Cubero.m-
jor Evans was called upon to obtain redress for rhe Indians and~
put a stop to this practice.

There were few, if any, whites living in the immediate
vicinity of Fort Wingate at this time.3 A few lived at Fort Defi-
ance and others in the San Rafael area.

Mescalero, Ute and other tribes from the nurth ofWing* were
continually warring against the Navajo aa well as the white. Mes-
calero’s and Utes habitually teamed up against theNavajo and kept
them in a state of unrest. The Navajo, indignant over the attacks
and unwilling to depend on white soldiers for protection, kept
scouts otitto warn them of impending attacks. They would rush
their children and sheep out of harm’s way and fight off the ma-
rauders alone.

A hygiene report prepared by Assistant Surgeons R.S. Vickery
a~d J. V. Hanne, U. S. Army,4 describes Fort Wingate as “ - - - -
situated inLat. 35°20’ north; Long. 31°22’ west; altitude 6,822
feet. Thie post was formed about the middle of August, 1868, by
the arrival of troops with the Navajo tribe of Indians, who were
moved by General Sherman from Fort Sumner, New Mexico, back to
their own country. At the same time, old Fort Wingate, 60 miles
southwest, was abandoned and the troops moved to this point. The
present fort is west-northwest of Albuquerque, about 150 miLes&om
it by road and about 45 miles southeast of old Fort.Defiance. It
is on the Pacific slope of the mountains, about 23 miles west of
a sllght elevation called the Dividing Ridge, and is situated on
gently rising ground at the south side of a valley about two miles
in diameter, openhg to the north. - - - the stream from thesprirg
croeses the east angle of the plan. The buildings of the pxt are
near the head of the valley - - - one of the greatest needsofthis
poet is soft water. The supply for drinking and irrigation iafrom
Bear Springs, a few yarde distant, and is abundant, but the water
is very hard. Cisterns are much needed.” ‘

1

3

4

& 2 Ltrs Fort WinSate, 4 May, 16 June, Arrott Microfilm Roll 18
Rodgers Library, Highlands Univ., Las Vegas, N.M.

Memories of Jeff King, Navajo Scout, as related in 1961. Trans-
lated interview filed in depot historical files.
Circ.#8, ,WarDept., Surgeon-Generals Office, Washington, page
311.
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Copy of,Remington Drawing of an (oldArmy Soldier
(frctnphoto in “Armor” magazine)



,..
L’:<>l,l;,,Li :t,.,a(.Y ,;(;,,. -.1 -. .... :.>ervatlon ten miles

square, corres~~,ndl(].:LO cne I;T.,.;l,],:....!:~ser~.t:of 1960 on Feb. 18,1873.
.\ Boundaries wete anno.;l~+d!r LP?-,”,c ‘rder No. /. ilept.of Missouri, L8-

70. LIPonrecommendation ot several ,mllitarvauthorities, including Ro-

bert Todd Lincoln, Secretary of War, an addition of tnirty square miles

to the south was made on March 25, 1881, co furnish fire wood and build-
ing materials for the fore. Boundaries for this additional tract were

set by General Order No. 7, Dept. of Missouri, 1881. This action caused
considerable adverse comment from the cattlemen who nad moved to theazea
by that time. The officer in command of the fort had sizeable herds of
cattle which he proceeded to graze on the additional tract of land, and
it was felt by many that the need for graze for these cattle waa thepri-
mary reason for hi: recommending tt,atthe land be acquired by the ~rn-
ment.

During the following year the fort served as a base for ethnolo~l
●nd archeological expeditions in this region.

The original plan for “new” Fort Wingate was unique. It conaiated
of a circle within a square. Living quarters were to be built aroundth
circle, facing the parade ground in the center, while shopa, atorehouaaa
and atablaa lined the exterior wall that formed the square. Econany ●x-
perts made the plan, but they forgot about future expansion, so after a
brief atart on the odd design, it was dropped and the place emerged in
the rectangular form that is so familiar to the old Army.

Willie Spiegolburg waa the first trader at the new fort when the I+
vajos raached there in July, 1868. The tradership succeeded to John L,
Wstera when Willle left the following March. Wingate was a fort in name
only at that time; more a tent camp than anything else, a & dozen acras
•aws~ with Indiana ●nd blue-coated soldiers. Not until 1870 were plans
for the fort approved and work etarted on the permanent buildinge,l

The commissary used a token (’orseco) in place of silvar or gold in
trade. It waa called a “hindquarters check” becau~e one side of the to-
kan wae stamped “Good for 5 lbe. of beef”, and the reverea aide stamped,
“Good for 5 lba. of Beef Hindquarters.”

On May 28, 1875, tha Navajo Chiefa, meeting in council, petitioned
Washington for the removal of W. F. M. Amy, Indian Agent. They ●ccuaad
him of being ● “prevaricator of the truth” (wording suppliad for them by
Lorenzo Hubbell, who latar became a prominent trader in tha araa). Com-
plaining that Amy resorted to threata ●nd coercion to get hie -y with
them, they requested that he be replaced with Thomaa V. Keama, ●nether
trader. Receivinfjno reaponaa from the Commiaaioner, thirty Of the@n-
cipal Chisfe met ●gain on July 15 ●t Fort Wingate ●nd wrote ● sacond pa-
tition ●ddreoaed to President Grant,

Amy wae, ●t the time, in Washington.trying to arrange to trade off
the San Juan Valley portion of the reservation for less deeirable tracts
on the east and west of the reservation, While he was gone, tiving re-
ceived no aatiafaction from their appeals to Washington, tho Indiana
guietly walked into the asency at Defiance, seized control, Dlacod his

b
1 McNitt, Frank, Indian Traders
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Dr, Waiter Whitncv, left in charge during Arny’S absence, ~mug@

out two letters of warning to Amy and another message to Fort Wingatq
asking for help. Ill-feeling between the Army and the Navajo Agency
had been growing for some time. The extent of its growth was reflected
in the reply of Captain C. A. Hartwell, Commanding. He was sorry,said
the Captain, but “without instructions from District Headquarters” it
wcmld be impossible to send trocps to Whitneys’ aid. He did agree t.o
forward the appeal to Col. Irwin Gregg in Santa Fe and await the dis-
trict commanders’ instructions.

Amy finally tendered his resignation thro~gh the Commander at the

fort, and the Commanding General of the Dept. of Missouri issued ork
for Captain Hartwell to take possession of the Agency.

On September 9, Major William Redwood Price rode into the agency,
accompanied by a corporal and two troopers. He was met by the refusal
of Dr. Whitney to turn the place over to him. The major coolly a-d
that he did not recognize Whitney in the matter at all, but if Whitney
chose to resist, he would take the place by force. Whitney still re-
fuged to cooperate, so a military ambulance and wagon were put at his
disposal and on September 13 he departed very unwillingly.

It was necessary that Amy return to the agency to straighten out
his accounts and turn the agency over to Major ‘rice: When hediapkrytid
a similar lack of cooperativeness, he received the same firm, cold
treatment from Price, whose dreary duty it was to conduct an inventory
of all property and supplies at the agency. The property disputetiich
ensued was finally settled by a long, drawn-out investigation by che
Indian Office.

Altogether, the new Wingate was a good post. Blessed with a good
location and fine climate, it appealed to soldiers and Indians alike
because it furnished the necessities of a good camp - a spring ofwatec
wood in the hills and grass in the valley, and in the early days #enty
of game. The surgeons report from the early Seventies shows that there
was considerable sickness but very few deaths from disease. Fevers,
respiratory ailments, dysentary and venereal trouble account for most
of the illness, with only three deatha from these causes in a fcur-year
period. The food situation appears to have been good despite the com-
parative isolation of the place - the Zunis and nearby Navajosu?re fir-
mers and probably suppLied what was needed to supplement the dry is-
sues from the conunissary. In any event, the Army Scurvy Report for tk
period shows only three cases of that telltale disease at Wingate in
seven years. About 1870, the old road to the east through Laguna and
Albuquerque was augmented with a short cut that ran directly east from
the post to the Rio Grande, where it crossed at San Felipe.1 It was
built from the fort to Agua Azul (Blue Water) in 1869 and cut off 8 to
10 miles in that distance. At that time, mail to Washington required
from nine to ten days - the stage met the railhe.adin Kansaa.
1 Ltr Fort Wingate, May ~, 1869, Arrott Microfilm Roll 18, Rodgers

Library, Highlands Universit , Las Vegas, N.M.
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The post was further enriched in 1877 by the appointment of Lambert
N. Hopkins, Jr., as Post Trader. Flour, coffee and sugar - in timtorder

were the staples most demanded and therefore most in BUPPIY at the old
(rading posts. BY comparison, an inventory of the traders’ stock~ port
Wingete was d~wn-right exotic. It had a display of goods of the!m~beat
quality, put up in excellent style. This included raisinu, ahmcxwia,~,
olives, honey, preserves, pickles, canned salmon and other fish, ●nd va-
rieties of wines and liquors, all of California production.

&&!/c.lbL

These delicacies,
/’

needless to say, were not for Indians nor CBlI=V-
men of the ranks-but for the posts’ officers and their wives, It even

had a private room for ladies shopping, which Lt. Bourke commanded
idea to be used by other military traders.

“My national pride was aroused by the display of goods of tb
beat quality - - -“, the lieutenant exulted.

Mr. Hopkins, incidentally, built himself a $4,000.0~ •to~

as an

very

houae
close by on the military reservation - and ran out of ceeh-payingofflrn
In 1882, he waa bankrupt, his home going to W. S. Wood#i4e, hfa chief
creditor, for one dollar.l

.
Washington Mathews, who later became Surgeon General of the United

States, served at the post hospital for many yeara in the 1.880’s.-al
Cushing was at the fort during the time Mathews wan stationed at * hos-
pital, coming wit,hthe Powell Expedition to explore the Green, Grand,md
Colorado Rivers.

Again in 1880, the Navajos were greatly dissatisfied with the~ime
of their Indian Agent, Galen Eastman. By early spring, the military of-
ficers at Fort Wingate were frankly alarmed by the,situation. Cal. L.P.
Bradley, who vaa commanding the post, recommended strongly that Eaatman
be replaced before more trouble erupted, but he wea not removed until
January of 1883. ,

L

In March, 1884, two white men named Walcott and McNally were mur-
dered by Navajos. Col. R. E. A. Crofton, then ccnmmnding Fort IJingate,
sent twenty-five cavalrymen to Defiance where they camped. Thxae pris-
onere wore taken back to the fort under military escort and locked up.

Early in August, Troop K, Sixth Cavalry, was dispatched under Lt.H.
P. Kingsbury on a mili!aryexpedition to recover the bodies and capcur~
the guilty Indians. One body was returned, but no more Indians wer~~-”
tured in the week or two the troops were out.

Aa at most army poets, there were many uneventful daye, and the of-
ficers and their families took advantage of every opportunity to break
the monotony.2 It was Christmea shortly after the arrival of “TheScond”
1$ ‘McNitt, Frank, Indian Traders
2. Cora Carleton Glassford, Memories on Parade, New Mexico Magazine,

Mar 1938
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from old Fort Lowall, L~ ~.1.::~qd.~f~ic~-,~“asco ~~ abandor.ed.i Chr:stma%
1887,2 with a reglmeccql eggn~g p’?r~y!n ‘(The-’lub”at the end of0f5cers’
Lane

3
to celebrate. Tfi.e~.reamYeggncg had been made by the newest shave-

tail in the Regiment. E~eryune hid a wcnderful time and much of the egg-
nog was drunk, by the ladi:s as we!l as the ~ffi~ers. At last time came
to go hone to waiting Christmas dinners. The ladies withdrew to thedras-
sing room to put on wraps and avershoes, and all was gaiety and smilesm-
til they came out onto the upper landing and started down those long steap
stairs to the lower hall. Those steps seemed impossible to negotiate.Af-
ter the first two or three steps, each lady sat amm and there she stayd!
After two or more hours of waiting, the officers finally discovered that
the young Shavetail had put everything into che eggnog except the milk -
and the ladies were waiting for the effects to wear off before trying the
stafrs. The general consensus af opinion, however, waa that <t had been
a fine Christmaa party.

The following fall, one young bride - a New york girl - had pianned
A big birthday party for her husband. The latest in stylish cake decor-
ation had been ardered from New York weeks in advance to enhance the cake
to be baked by her Chinese Cook, Sun. An earLy, heavy snowstorm delayed
mail delivery; however, and the decorations failed to arrive. Distressed
by his mistress’ disappointment, Sun assured her that he would fix every-
thing. Wrapping himself in a huge buffaloe overcoat belonging totheycung
officer, he trudged through the deep snow to the Post Traders Store,where
he bought,a sack full of little candy hearts, from which he intended to .
copy decorations for the cake.

At the party, he brought the candle-lighted cake in with a
flourish -

zrand
and after one look, the guests shrieked with laughter. L!nable

to read English, Sun had carefully chosen the fanciest looking motto from
the candy hearta, and painstakingly copied it on the cake. It read “Pre-

pare to Meet Thy God.”

‘Theband at these army posts was always pampered, if only lxcaused’tsy
were so far from everything that the band, the one source of music, must
be cherished. During the late wfnter, the traops were ordered out inbxrn
to chop Ice from the pond to store in the ice house. One morning, some-
timein the 1880’s, the young Quartermaster Captain, who did not buy this
“pet the band” idea, issued mders that the band was to take its turnmat-
ting ice the following day. An outcry went up from the Adjutant - loud
protests to the Commanding Officer: “The band should not have to cut ice!
The delicacy-of their fingers would be impaired by such hard work - their
hands would be frozen!” The matter was referred to the Quartermaster@-
tain. tie,perceiving that the Colonel commanding seemed to lean a little

.,to the uide of the Adjutant and hia pet, the band, got his mad up and da-
cided that that pampered band would work!
1. Cora Carleton Glaasford, Memories on Parada, New Mexico Magazine, Mar

1938
2. Date eetablie’hedfroin“Old Fort Lowell”, by Mary Hugheton, Arizona

.Highways Magazine, April 1958.
3. l’ShaVataile”- West Point graduatea named ●fter the green, bumptloua-!

A“rmymulas whose manes had been roached and tails shaved to dis-
tinguish them from the older,more tractable animals.
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Very suavely, 1,17 .e:, ortlng r I -ne L.olcinel, cne ~apcala sala, >Ir, Ln
this matter ot ~h~ 9a,-.d=Lldtne L.d :.icring. If F!,?Colonel prefers that
the band shwJ1.dno~ risK injury CO ,ts delicate fingers by actually aKllng
and sawing the ice blacks, it is dccepcable tJ me, since the band is in-
tended solely to be a means of entertainment to the post, to have them

report as directed at the pond, and while Troop C is cutting ice,stayhms
and play for them so that their duty may not seem so long and onerous!’lb
non-plu.ssedColonel issued the order.

Later, and all through the day, every man, woman and child of that

garrison trudged to the pond to see for themselves the amazing alBhtd ti
regimental band seated solemnly upon che ice blocks (there were no Othey
seating arrangements provided) playing sweet ditties for the delectation
of grinning Troop C, manfully heaving away at the ice cutting.

Gallup, which was to become the nearest trade center, began Life tn
1880 as a general store and saloon, surrounded by a few shacka, in lit?cxsl-
ter of rich but as yet undeveloped coal fields.l The saloon was operated
by one Tom Dye, a rather notorious character suspected af murdering hts
mother-in-law and eiater-in-law. Mr. Dye started the first coal mine op-
eration, but eventually ended up in prison for selling liquor to the In-
diana.2

l%s Atlantic and Pacific Railroad (Later the Santa Fe) had not yat
reached the tiny community, then located in the western reacheo of Berna-
lillo County (McKinley County was not organized until 1901). The Saloon,
callad the Blue Goose, served aa a stagecoach atop. The railroad reached
the community in 1881. The first Mayor of Gallup was W. F. Kuchenbeckar,
● native of Germany who had served in the 15th Infantry at Fort Wingate
frcsn1875-1880. He waa prominent in the bueinees and political life of
the small community for many years.

Inevitably, the railroad brought in its wake saloons and thapzoblema

of drunken Indiana. Close to Fort Wingate, but off the Navajo mervaUon,
Trader Hsna Neumann stocked a supply of liquor for Wingate officars who
found hia rug room at Guam, N. M. offered greater privacy and quiet t~n
tha bara of Gallup, which were frequently patronized by enlistad men,aome
of whom were pretty tough. Sometimes the officers took their wives with
them to Guam, and on such ocaesians the card games and drinking uaualAy
did not laat through the night.

Sunday, generally a quiet day at the fort, was the day when the of-
ficers wives were most likely to appear at the store, however. As their
husbanda played carda, the wives whiled away the day pretending intareat
in Neumann’s rug collection. The cost of che blankets was not h

T
- but

neither was the pay of a lieutenant or captain, eo salea were few.

General Douglas McArthur lived at Wingate as an infant when his fa-
. thar was stationed at the fort, during 1881-1882. His fathar was a C~-

tain in cmnaand of Company K, 13th US Infantry, and was tranafarred f-
Fort Wingate to Fort Selden, New Mexico.4

TWO incldenta occurred during the kata 1880’s which cauead uaxh
trouble and were responsible for ths a- beginning to recruit Navajo umn
for scout duty.5,
1. Howard Bryan, Off the Beatan Path, Gallup Daily Independent
2. Twitchell, LeadinR Facts of New Mexico Hiatozy, McKinley County
3. $fcNitt,Frank, Indian Traders.
4. Ltr from 14cArthuTto ingate, 23 Nov 58, filed in depot ~ filas
5. Memories of Jeff King, Navajo~~cout. Filed in depot history filaa.
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A mailman was killed c.~tr:.rihg‘.JLL:rLr.,IIgbcr:ecountry, and a short time

later San Carlos Apaches a~~us:e(! 1 ‘Y u ~f s~ldiers, killing them all.

The Apaches piled bouidc:s or.Lb.c>idt of mountain and rolled them
down on the troopers as they attempted tn go th.ucgjhthe pass below. It
was then the army decided to recruit !IdvajoScouts.

Manuelito, biggest of the Navajo Chiefs, and four others agreed for
25 braves to serve six month hitches with the army in a noncombatant o@a-
City; to serve as mail messengers an~ scout-s. Although two of those=i-
ginalecouta were killed in the line at d~cy, they were allowed to take no

captivtc nor were they allmcd to ~Lg~t Xeacalero’s, who seemed to be the

chid trouble-makars.

Mariano, another prominent chief, wanted the Navajoa to serve in the

●rmy. Thou@ they risked getting killed, it would giv=
vantage in negotiating with the government, he argued.

wec opposed to tho idea.

l~ehlldren (the tribe),” he said, “Have put awaY

●ny aherp thins that hae to do with war ar killing, and
them up ●gain.”

the tribe an ●d-
Old Man MoLitol

bows •nd~mad
I will not pick

Nariano then ergued for an agreement to be made with the gwornment
to txtend tha boundaries of the reservation in return for the ccrviccs of -
Navajo men in the ●rmy. Manuelito gave In to Mariano on this point, bu~

imlatod tht his pcopla bs given an Opportunity to cpeak their own mind.
on tha ●groemnt. “A tgibal meeting

provad by the trib~.

EvmtueIly, tho ●rmy picked up
cet ●bout making soldiers of them.
tactics were not too difficult, b’jt

the sc~to to dreac and have
vajo wore low on the back of

was arranged ●nd the agreement ●p-

about 150 acouta from the triba, then
Ritle handling, marching, ●nd Cavaky
they ran into some trouble inducing

their hair cut the white man’a way. Each Na-
hie head the “bL’tse-yele’r2,a knot Of hair

traditional hair-do
1, ‘rhetarx ItOld Men”, sa ueed by the Navajo, 18 ● term of recpact used

to imply wiedm gained with ●ge.
2. Spelling La ●n approximation of the Navajo sounds, thers bain@ no

written Navajo lan~age.
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tied ‘round with string, They were more than simpiy a fashion or vanitY,
but were closely associated with Navajo tradition and religion. Asking a

brave to have this hair cut off was a serious business.

Somehow, the army convinced them, however, and the first 400r50soxU

recruited bowed to the barbers shears on the same day. In short order,tt-e

ground was littered all about with great masses of black hair, still tied
up with string.

Then, as now, the Navajos were willing to try anything once, and so

most of them promptly tried out all the “military sins” of an enlisted
man - and ended up in the stockade to pay for their fun; some were even
discharged for disorderly conduct. A little bit of “the sPirits” went a
long way with the Indians, and imbibing was one of the quickest and a.arest
ways to land in trouble.

Soldiers from Fort Wingate went on a campaign against Mescalero Apa-
ches in about 1897, accompanied by Navajo Scouts. The Mescaleros were,at
that time, near the Mexican border on a high mountain from which extended
a long hi’11. Although the soldiers had engaged in many skirmishes with
them and had chased them many times, the Indians always escaped them in
the rough country. On this one campaign, however, the soldiers foundthat
the Ftescaleroshad built a fort (or wall) of lava rock on the hill. They
had been raiding from there, until finally the ranchers and other civil-
ians in the area chased them back to their stronghold and laid siege init.

This was the situation the army found then: the Mescaleros holed up
in the fortress, vowing never to be taken alive; the whites surrounding
them, cutting off their water and food supplies.

After the soldiers joined the fight and completely blocked off the
only water supply so that the Mescaleros could not even slip out at night
for replenishment, the Ieaders saw that the children were hungryandm,
and their braves out of ammunition. They laid down their weapons andcme
out with their arms folded to surrender.

“How long will we run and be afraid, and go with hunger and thirst?”
they asked their people. lfl~emight as well give up today and let the~v-

ernment do aa it will.”

When the soldiers got inside the wall, they found thattie Mescaleros
had Lndeed run out of food, water and ammunition. The ground inside the
walls lay thick with bullets, showing the bitter fight the Indians M put
up.

Nine warriors escaped as the Mescaleros were being teken to FortWin-
gate and fled into Mexico where they joined Mexican rebels. Later, the
army waa called on to go back and hunt down the escapees, who had been
raiding white ranchers, killing and stealing. After months of fruitless
chaeing, the renegades were fooled into attacking a group of ‘kmsrt’(white
settlere dressed inwomen’s clothes) and were captured.

During this same period, smne 91 Hopi Indians went on the warpathb-
cauae they did not want to send their children to school. Troops from
Fort Wi.ngatewere sent out to settle the dispute, with orders from Wash-
ington not to fire on the Indians unless they attacked first.
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TiW SOl dieTS found the naj~lity Ot the Hopi’s adamant, They uculd
send their children to schooi !-!orethan that, they threatened,tkey

a 9ecret weapon - ~ fire sti:k :hat would ‘Jurnevery soldier and all

whites who lived near, .indtiw’ would strike LC if not left a~or,e!

The Hopi children were hidden in caves in a nearby canyon during
daytime and brouEht out by their Parents Onl~ at ‘ight’ ‘tbt ‘he

commander of the troops grew tired ~f the argument and gave orders to
move in on the village during the night, to surprise and capture the I*
dime at dawn. The tactic was successful and the village fell without
a shot being fired. The sold~ers never did discover the wondrous fire-
atick upon which the Hopi’s had placed so much trust.

When the parents still refused to send their children away toadxml,
the troopa handcuffed the fathers, Eermed a big circle of soldie-s and
horded the children into it. Reluctant ones were spanked into the cir-
cle if necesaa~. Five wagons were loaded with children and taken away
to the white man’s school. Forlorn and defeated parents ware told that
they would not see them again for three years.

‘h Indiana had lost one more battle; the whi.teahad encroached a
bit farther into their lives.

John J. (Blackjack) Pershing served aa a lieutenant atthefattiing
1889-90. ‘17aEquartera occupied by him were referred to for yearn- the .
Iloldpershing p~ace”o In later yeara, school children around the area
believed them to be haunted by the wife of an officer who killed her
there in a jealous quarrel. (Major F. E, Pershing, a nephew of Black-
jack, was alao stationed at the post in 1942)

In January, 1889, Pershing was transferred from Fort Stanton toFort
Wingate. ln May of that year, word reached the fort that the Zunim,
usually peaceable, were under a~s and bes~e8in6 white m= at the S
ranch. Pernhing was ordared to take a detachment of ten men, g? ia8ee-
diately to the ranch and rescue the white men from the Indiana.

After a hard ride, the detachment eaw a little clearing surrounded
by about one hundred Indiana firing a ateadyfiillade at a log cabin in
the canter. Pershing rode up and hailad the Indiana. They were gre~Y
excited ●nd angry. The white men in the cabin, they explained, hadtrld
to eteal ● herd of Zuni horses and, being discovered, had ki~?ed me of
thair people in a running’fight; the Indians were determined to taka h
murdarere dead or alive.

pcrshins, for h~s part, explained his orders to rescue the whita
men and bring them back under arreat to Fort Wingate. It wan no eaey
taak to parsuade the Zuni Chiefs to permit thie; to sea known thieves
●nd killere ride off safely and unpunished was not according to thair
Indien code of swift justice. For a moment it looked ●s if an’ attempt
to remove the whita men would bring on a clash with the Zunia. But the
Chiefs finally agreed reluctantly and ordered the fusillada against the
cabin StomDed.
1. The New Mexico Historical Review, Univ. of N.FI.,July 1963
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Pershings next task was :0 gL-[:hc white men Inside to surrender

their arms and accompdny hlm in arr.sc back to Fort Wingate. He walked

to the cabin, demanded their guns, and assured them of his protection
against the hostile Indians. His assurances must have seemed pretty

weak to the thoroughly frightened prisoners; they SaW one ~red armed

and angry Ind:ans arrayed against only ten American soldiers. Butj as

they were doomed inevitably if they stayed where they ware, thaydeclded
totake their chances with Pershing.

,.,,.
$ The critical stage, of course, was when they all stepped outaldeto

paas through the crowd of Zunis who gathered around threeteaingly.~re
was no telling when some young, hot-blooded buck would pump a bullet itt-
to their midst, and what wild melee would follow if that happened - one
shot liable to touch off a general engagement! Pershing knew that the
esoape must be done quickly,’with efficiency, and with no ●how of fear.
On the way in he had said to one ot his,men, “We are goina to taketioee
meu ‘awayand if those bucks gec hostile remember we moan buaineaa”. He
gave an example of a “cool head” now.. He put the prbonera on a ~uck-
board, mounted his men on either side, and rode through the lines of
t~r~tening bravea. There were ng:ahots fired and tha detachment -d
F.mrt’Wingatesafely. ~

,

Colonel Carr, couxnandingfFortNingate, conrnendedPerqhirig for suc-
ce~efully handling a touchy assignment. Pershing appraciat+ :he com-
mendation, but must have wondered,afterwarda if Indian juetice was not
be&ter, after all, than white man justice. Of the three horse ,thieves
andmurderers, one esc~ped from the guardhouse, and the other two were
later released without punishment, -
.,.

In September, 1889, Pershimg was transferred beck to Fort Sta-&on,
hia favorite post. While there, he fulfllled a prm~e he had made to
Colonel Carr. Carr was very fond of hunting, especially for bear~~h
were plentiful near Fort Wingat&~ Pershing had mentioned once that a
f?eknilyliving near Fort Stanton specialized in training dogs for” bear
hanting, When Pershing was ordered back there, Carr aaked him to buy
one of these doga and ship it to him. This he did. Spending fifty&l-
le%s~- Colonel Carrs’ meney, he purchased what tha sellers called a’ism-
der”, had him carefully crated,.and sent him to Carr at.,W@gate. Carr,
in turn, then organized a bear hunt, inviting sme of his staff, and
promised good sport and a bear meat feast - all be~u~e of the new dog
which Pershin& had bought..
.8.P
.; The hunt began and before long a bear was spied. The dog wae

b~ht forward, took one look ac hia adversary (standing on itati~
and roaring ferociously), turned tail, and ran all tha way back to the
post. It vaa a long time before Pershing heard the end of that~nt.
.1.

Pershing’ahappy stay at Fort .$tanton)uaathreatened:in.-~~at, ~
by a department order dissolving Troop L (his troop). Feazing,leat hie
●alignment to a’new troop would mean his being aaaigmed to a different
peat, John wrote hia regimental cormnander,Colonel Carr, aeking to be

. ae+~ed to Troop D (also stationed at Fort Stanton). Troop D had an
L officer shortage: said Pershing io.l$citoua~y. Colonel”Carr forwarded

the r~quast to the Department Cowmander,with an int~ea~g c~t on
human motivations: “Respectfully forwarded. Disapproved. ~Ne ~~ar
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wrote me a private letter saying that he had invested in mines near Fort
Stanton, and wanted to remain there to look after his interests. I re-
plied that 1 wished him success in his financial enterprises; but that
they should not interfere with his duties.” Colonel Carr recommended
that Fershing be transferred to Troop A (stationed at Fort Wingate).

To Fort Wingate then came Pershing. “Well, I am back here again,’1.”
troop having ascended”, he wrote Julius Penn in September 1890. “Thie
pJat is a S.O.B, and no question - tumbled down, old quartere, thou~h
Spots is repairing as fast as he can. The wintere are severe------it ie
always bleak and the surrounding country ie barren absolutely-----”

In late October, an old friend arrived at Fort Wingate -- Chauncoy
Baker, claaa of ’86, U. S. Military Academy. With him came Brigadier
General Alexander McG. McCook and Thomao J. Morgan (respectively, Com-
mander of the Department of Arizona and U. S. Commissioner of Indian Af-
fairs), on their way to visit the Navajo and Hopi reservationa. Perehing
was detailed to escort them with a small detachment.

At Keams Canyon, New Mexico, a large number of Indians aaeembled to
meet the General and the Indian Commissioner; they celebrated tiemeeting
by holding athletic contests in the afternoon - footraces, horaeracee
(they ran a winning horse repeatedly until he wae worn out), and wreet-
ling. Chauncey Baker, a great teaaer, told the Indiana that Pershingwa
a champion wrrestler,and the latter soon found he had a challenge on his
handa. Not trusting his wrestling prowess in an engagement with 8one
powerful brave, he excused himself by saying that he was a runner, not ●

wrestler. That waa alright with the Indiana, They promptly put their
champion runner up against him. Caught and unable to back out without
losing face, Perahi,ngstripped down to about aa little clothing as the
Indian and made ready for the race.

The distance was stepped, Chauncey Baker and an old Indian Chief
were eelected as judgee, and bets were placed. The Indiana ~ heavfly
on their man and the small group of white soldiers backed Pershing with
their money. When the starting eignal wae given, both men daahed off
and ware even for about the first fifty yarde. After that Parshing
elowly pulled away and ended several pacee ahead, winning the race.

Hia finieh wae rather unorthodox. He had a trick ankle due to a
sprain at West Point, and as he neared the finieh line, his ankle geve~
so that he rolled rather than ran acrosa the finish line. But the I-
made no difficulty about the form of the finish and concaded that the
whita man had won. They offered a rematch, which Pershing prudentlyde-
clinad.

, .,
On November 23, 1890, Pershing and the 6th Cavalry received ordera

to prepareto move north into Daketo country where some Indian trotblahd
broken out.

,,

J. T. Freuman came from Chicago to the fort in 1895 to becoma Band~
maeter of the 2d Cavalry, bringing with him hfe wife.and three childr~
1. Mrs. Thomas E.Hunt, personal memories. Mrs. Hunt, of East Shore”

Rd., Jame.etown,UR. I., was five yeare when her father, J. T. F_~ti,
brought tierto,the post in 1895.

27



~ey remained five years, and during their staY the band became quite

popular in the surrounding country. They were allowed to take playing

engagements as often as Possible. The band was returning from one such

engagement at Needles, California, and as their train was pulling into

Winslow, they discovered that John pbillip Sousa and his band were readY
to pull out. Freeman and Sousa were old friends, so Sousa serenaded the
2d Cavalry Band, which promptly returned the ccurtesy. It was quite an

event for both groups. During these years, the recreation hall was used

for school (when a teacher was available), for dances, concertsdtirch
services. Rev. Simpson, a Methodist Minister from Gallup, conductedPro-
testant services about twice a month. while Father Julliare~ a Jesuit
Priest serving as a missionary to the lndians, held Catholic services
whanever he could return to the post.

Early in 1900, a great fire broke out in one of the mens barracks,
Whipped by a strong wind, the fire destroyed almost all of the mens per-
eonal belongings, and many valuable records of the post.

Charles C. Pierce, Post Chaplain, took care of the spiritualness
of the troops at the fort during the mid-1890’s. A letter in the Rod-
gers! Librery, Highlands University, relates that he baptised one Mary
Elizabeth Brett on July 12, 1896. She was the daughter of lst.lA.Lloyd
Milton Brett, Adjutant, 2d Cavalry, and Elizabeth (Wallace) Brett. The
ch{lda sponsors were Colonel George Gibson Hunt of the 2d Cavalry. and
?irs.Alice (Knight) Wallace, the wife of Major Wallace of the Second.l

L\

Gallup saloons still were running wide open, but the town was
beginning to achieve some decorllmin the late ‘90’s or ?arly 1900’s*n
King Albert, of Belgium, made a SpeCicil stop in Gallup to absorb someof

the western atmosphere and witness dances by a group of Navajos.2

In July, 1901, a detachment of 30 soldiers of I Company, 23d In-
fantry, arrived st the fort, making a total .rrength of 88 men.3

Indian troubles of that time were mostly of the nuisance variety-
attacka on isolated whites by drunk or rentigadeIndians, such aa the
instance of the killing of a clerk working alone at the Woodgate ‘kading
Post 2 miles northwest of Wingate Railroad station in 1901.4 A Lt,
Voodhouse and a small detachment of men arrested two Navajos for the
crime.

The ●nnual territorial fair was held in Albuquerque each fall. In
those years the fair borrowed from the old Wild West shows; half of the
excitement provided by Navajos brought in to put on dances and take PArt
in the paradea, etc., the other half of the spectacle provided bjmounti
drille and simulated war maneuvers by cavalry sent over frrmFrntWingmte.

In September, 1907. two troops of the Fifth Cavalry went fmm Fort
1. Lkr Arrott Microfilm Roll 18, Rodgers Library, Highlanda University
2. McNitt, Prank, Indian Traders
3. McKinley County Revubllcan NewsPaD~~. July 27, 1901, Santa Fetium
4. Santa Fe New Mexican NewsuaQer, June 14. 1905, Santa Fe Museum
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Wirxgateto Fort Defiant:=on what rurrredout to be the last armed exp=iiti
the UniLed States Arm’,,ever mad. ~gaiost the Indians.l

For smnetime, a nu,mbzrof I:ldiansunder the leadership of two bucks
~amed pcLIy and 9Yliiie, had been alsobeying the regulations issuedby the
Indian regencyat Fort Defiance, until finally their actions amounted to
open rebellion agaitkstthe U. S. government. Dr. W. F. Fish, aveberina~
sent to New Mexico to help dip sheep in New Mexico, Colorado and Arizona,
ran into opposition from the Indians and asked for troops from the fort.

Bylilie, the Medicine Man, insisted that he could doctor the sheep
just as well as Dr. Fish. In the argument, the veterinarian threatened
to call out a cavalry of soldiers to come and kill a few Indians, where-
upon the Indian boasted th~t i.ta builet hit him square in the forehead,
it wouldn’t hurt him a bit.

The troops were called, and after a short fight with the lndians’
restored order and the sheep dipping proceeaed as planned. According to
an article written by Dr. Fish for “The Goshen Practitioner”, fall 1949
issue (pubiished by Goshen Laboratories, Inc), there were 3 Indians W
in the fight. The Nav’a.jo leaders fled north into the Four Corners area,

where the troops overtook them, and in a short skirmish thtw ringbders
and eight of their followers were captured. The prisoners were takent~
Fort Wingate, where thev were Lried and sentenced to serve termS in

military prison at Fort Sill, Oklahoma.

In July, 1908, four troops of the Fif!h Cavalry, theeitire garrison
at Fort Wingate, went On d practice m~rch a~”rossthe Navajo reservation
to Black Mountain. Ihe purpose of this expedition was not OnlY w ex-

perience for officers and men, but to “emind the Indiana of the lesson
they had been given the year bef~re. Col. A. W. (Art) Hanson, then a
lieutenant just out of we~t Poillt,was a memDtirof both the 1907md 1908
expeditions.

In 1908, Fort Wingate was one of four goveInmerLt installations co-

operating with the.forest service in the conservation and management of
woodlands; West Point.,N. Y., Ruck Island Arsenal 111., Picatinny Ag~

2 The Wdr Department i.nthat year disposedserial,and Fart Wingate.
25,000,000 feet of western yellow pine at :op prices.

On New Year’s day, 1909, the Fifth Csvalry left Fort Wingate for
station at Schofield Barracks, Hawaii. They were relieved by a squadron
of the Third Cavalry, which remaiced at Wingate until the post was de-

activated in 1911.3

Col. Doresa, stationed in Denver, was comnander oftha~d &VSlrY,
but a Major Brown commanded the two troops at Wingate. He surrendered
his comanandto Capt. Frank McCoy, who became quite prominent rna general
during World War I. Captain Johnson relieved Caut. MCCOY in corunand.4

Ltr, Mrs. w.,F. Fish, Myf 5, 1960, de ot historical files
;: anta Fe New Mexican Newsvaper, Jan 2!, 1908, Santa Fe Mueeurrr

memor es, A tr mson, ltr filed in depot history.
:: ~~%%a~memor~es, ~~~&ilrC. Sydney, 417 S. Troy, Rj~~dO;k,SMich”)

stationed at Win ate as a sergeant with Troop 364,
?

. .
Cavalry, 1908-19 0.
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Among the austere rows of small, white stones in the national cemeta~
at Santa Fe, New Mexico, there stands a stone monument of a soldier~g
against a tree trunk, hat and rifle held carelessly by his side.l Themonu-
ment has a touching and tragic story behind it. Two privates, Hunter acd
O’Leary, stationed at Fort Wingate in the early 1900’s, became close frienck
and enjoyed hunting together in the hills back of the post. On one such
trip, while O’Leary was resting against a tree, Hunter accidentally shot
him. Following the burial, Pvt. Hunter was so grieved and depressed over

the accident that his officers and friends became seriously worri,edti his
eanity. When he developed a habit of disappearing into the hills everyday
after his tour of duty, they became more worried and had him foLlowed.They
found he was going into the woods to a large piece of native stone andcar-
ving a grave marker for the boy he shot - the reclining figure, the tree
trunk, the rifle and hat, all were there. Although he was not known tohsve
done any carving before (and apparently never tried it again) he produced
a very creditable likeness of young Dennis O’Leary. The marker stayed in
the small cemetary at Fort Wingate until 1915 when the bodies of all mili-
tary personnel were moved to the cemetary at Santa Fe. There it
$tande,

still
a tribute to the affection and comradery between two soldiers and

a mute apology from one to the other for an unfortunate accident.
In 1909, S. F. Stacher, Indian agent to the Eaetern Jurisdiction for

Navajos, called for troops to quell a Navajo uprising in protest against
certain government regulations.2 Agency headquarters had been established
on April 1, 1909, at Chaco Canyon, also known at that time as Putnam amlaa
Pueblo Bonita. The soldiers camped near the large ruins there for about
ten days. Duning this time the trouble makera were rounded up, brought in
and made to understmd that the government would use the mldiers, if mces-
sary, to keep the peace and prevent trouble. The presence of the soldiers
with their weapons, going through military drills, with bugle calls dioing
from the rock walls of the canyon were very impressive and helped to con-
vince the Indians that they must cooperate with the white mans’government.
The canyon had many cotton tail and jack rabbits, and when the soldiers
went rabbit hunting to provide fresh meat for their camp, the sound oftteir
rifle fire echoing in the canyon sounded like a real battle taking place.
These sounda also helped to impress the Indians, who ceased theirattempted
revolt.

Troopers at the post were issued mounted pasaes and went into Gallup
during their off-duty hours to visit friends, eat a good meal, or pa~ize
one of the town!seeveral saloons.3 Their first duty on arriving in themwn
was to properly stable and feed their horses. This was a measure of self-
protection as well as an obedience to regulations, especially for the sa-
loon customers. If the soldier took on a few drinks too many, hewmsimply
hoisted onto his horse, headed in the direction of the fort, and his horse
given a hearty whack acrosa the rump, By the time the horse ambled into
the post, the trooper had had plenty of time to sober up.

The majority of men at the peat, however, entered into the social ac-
tivities of the town and there were many marriages between local rzirlaand
men at the fort.
1. personal memories Virgil C. Sydney, 417 S. Troy, Royal Oak, Mich.,

stationed at,Wingate aa a sergeant with Troop 364, Third U.
Cavalry, 1908-1910

2. Ltr Herbert C. Stacher (son of S.F. Stacher) filed in depot

L 3. Personal memories Virgil C. Sydney, Royal Oak, Michigan
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The posr was deactivated between l’)liand 19181 except for a short
period durlfl$ h+l+-!~ wh~n it was garrisoned for the purpose of guarding
4,000 Mex,c3n rr:,p- ~nd families who fled the Pancho Villa uprising,
entering Texas .atM.irta. Ihjy wzre remnaats of a Mexican Federal Army
.}lathad bee:’.c’+~>e,ja.ross the border bv the rebels, and had requested
asvlum in tne Ln~ttd Srates.2 Moved from El Paso, Texas, to Fort Wingate
in the latter pare JL ~!dy,1914, these prisoners were billeted in tents
01 a broad, flat plain below the post. They had been moved from El Paso
to prevent them e~cap:ng the group .,ndjoining other Mexicans on this
side of the border Ln an effort to be allowed to stay here when the rebel-
lion was over.

The camp was slJrro,Jndedby barbed wire with raised sentry boxes at
four corners. S>ldiers [manningthese boxes were armed, with orders to
shoot to kill it anyon< tried to escape. One man did try and was shot.
Two others nanaged to escape but were hunted down by Apache Scouts and
soldiers, and returned to the fort. They were a heterogeneous group, in-
cluding five generaAs, some of whom had brought their families; part of
a large band, some of whom had managed to bring their instruments with
them; and a great manv “Soidaderas”, ra6gle-ta6gle women who fo~ed an
integral part of the Mexican army, foraging and cooking br their men and
often fighting beside them.

They were issued rations and fuel to cook with and did their own
cooking over open fires or other makeshift arrangementa. This broughtcm
one more incidenr In che never-ending feud between higher staffs located
at a distance, and local commanders.3 The regular army rations issued tO

the Mexicans were definitely not to their liking. They were accustomed

1. Abandoned on 4 Feb 1911, G.O. No. 2

Cts. They flatly refused to eat

Tortilla’a were
cooked on open
fires or make-
shift stoves.

3, War Dept., 16 Nov 1911
ltr in depot history files2. ~ersanal memorlas Mrs. W. H. Lloyd,

3. personal memories Col. R. H. Elliott (Ret.), son of Major

Stephen H. Elliott. ltr filed in depot historical files.
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1!1.L ,,. i .,, .,8,, ,,,1alsc rejected many rfti staples,

espec.lail) rf.tbakerf cr.~d wll~h they simply threW away drid replaced

with tortillo’s cooked ‘n their makesblft stoves The situation became

so bad that the Commandin: OttLeer, MdjOr Steph~flH. Elllott, after try-
ing repeatedly to get Department Headquarters tO act, went out on his own

and p~rchased a carload 0~ corn and some hand mills to grind it. He then

sent the bills to DeDdrtment

ltiMk’Ki(.10Swit. delighted, but not Department. They notified Major
Elliott that tnese bills would be paid, but in the future the Mexicans
would eat what Department said they would eat.,and like it!

Enraged by what he considered bureaucratic stupidity, Elliott sulked
for a few days. but was not able to change the situation.

Entertainment the Mexicans nad to furnish for themselves.1 The band
gave concerts; the circus troupe perfnrmed; they sang in groups; they
brewed a potent drink out ot their potato rations; when fights broke out
among them and the soldiers put a stop to the use of the potatoesfi brew,
they used something else which the soldiers were apparently unable~ iden-
tify; one little general knitted lace co keep himself busy, selling some
of it to the wives of soLdiers who lived on the post.

When the prisanertiarrived at the post they were guarded by infantry
troops from El Paso, wno were to return after transferring the prisoners
into the custody of a sq!ladronof the Twelfth Cavalry under the Commandof
Major Elliott.2

However, while the cav~lry was enroute to Fort Wingate, riots result-
ingfrom a ccal strike in Colorado got olt of control, and the governor of
that state asked for federal ~ntervention. Three troops of the cavalry
were diverted to this d,~ty,and so parr of the infantry escort renainedat
the fort to assist with the guard duty. “rhus, the post became attkat time
a mixed cavalry-infantry ga~risoo. Tt,ertwas a Quartermaster and four
doctors there,3 one ot whom was lst. Lt..William H. Lloyd. There was a
doctor Loewy from Baltimore and a Contrac~ Surgeon named Christensen.

The troops serILto Wimgate were temporarily away from their perument
stations, and bEcdLse of this tt,erewere no provlaions for the tranatkrof
household goods.4 Dependents were not moved at government expenae frrtlmse
days, so wives and families could come to Wingate or not, as the indivi-
dual officers’ pocketbook allowed.

From an official standpoint, almost the entire functioning of the-t
revolved around the Mexican camp. There was little military training.
Post housekeeping and guard duty at the stockade were the primary duties.

The internal administration of the camp was a Mexican affair. The
policing. feeding, camp organization and a certain amount of discipline
were carried ou’tbv a Mexican organization whose leaders were responsible
toMa~or Elliott. ‘Theguardinfi inspection of camp, and more serious
1. .pe,rsonalmflmorie~,Mr~-fi ~~loyd

2. Personal memories. Col. R. H. Elliott
3. Personal memories, Mrs. W. H. Lloyd
4. Personal memoxies, L’@l.R. H. Elliott
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Or,arriving at r.t’.i~fort. the officers found that the quarters had
no plwbing, CO StOJ&!$ Lht!yhatito US= camp cots for beds, there was an
cuthouse Ln Lhe back of edCh house in lieu of bathroom facilities - but
the door.+had been removed from most of them.

There were only two women on the post, Mrs. Lloyd and a sergeant’s
wife. Their food was brought to them frcm the cavalry mess across the
parade ground, and invariably reached them cnld and full of dust. More-
over, the cooks were unused to cooking at high altitude and so much of
the food was not completely done.

IrIdesperation. dnd to protect her baby’s stomach from this diet,
the young Mrs..Lioyd volunteered to cook for all the doctors iftiymld
only menage to Eind her a stove. They begged an ambulance from the
Quartermaster, went to Gallup, and returned in triumph with an old hr-
hole, wood burning cook stove. It did not draw very well and ashea fell
into the oven, but it cooked. With a coffee pot, a frying pan, two five

pound lard pails and all their mess kits, she set up her kitchen and
cooked the G.I. rations from the troop mesa - canned vegetables, canned
milk, and whatever cut of beef they drew. On one occasion, pleased be-
yond measure to have a break in the monotony of these meals, she cooked
some fresh rhubarb for dessert. Lt. Lloyd invited Dr. Cantu, the O,ILY
doctor among the refugees, to have lunch with them. When told that the
dessert was rhubarb, he exclaimed, “But that is a medicine!” He was

finally persuaded to try it, and seemkd to like it, but kept murmuring
to himself, “Rhubarb for a s’tieet! What a barbarity!”

Just as Lhe Lloyds and the other doctors got comfortably settled,tie
army replaced che Twelfth Cavalry with two companies of the Twentieth

Infantry, with MaJor Elliott to remain in command. The first section
to arrive was the Medical Detachment, w?.cha Major Manley as head Med-
ical Offictir. They arrived on a wet, very cold and windy night, and
were mat at the stat-ionby Lt. Lloyd in the ambulance. In the rain and

general confusion tt.eycould not find Lhe Major’s bedrolI, onlyti golf
C Lubs. TtI&lieutenant $lipped into his own quarters to secure blankets
for tne major, but unfortunately, woke his wife while removing one from
over her sleeping form and was forced to stay long enough to listen to
a good many vehement remarks about the general value and intelligence~
an officer who would lose his bedroll and show up at a place like Fort
Wingate with a set of golf clubs! It required a show of great charmti
following day before the good major won forgiveness and became a close
friend of the family.

After the arrival of the Twantieth,plumbing and GI ranges were ins-
talled in the quarters, the Post Exchange was opened UP, snd they even

sold beer for the troops. There was little to do for entertainment.~e
troops played baseball and drilled, with the drills frequently broken
up by fights betieen the Lloyds bulldog and the company MSSCOtS. These
fights were usually broken up by dumping the contents of the nearest
rain.barrel over the combatants. The Lloyds’ dog also had a standin6

feud with a bulldog belonging to Captain C. C. Smith, who lived next
door. Every afternoon the Captains’ orderly would knock at the Lloyds’
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Which .:eantthat tb- Ll,!rds’dog wqs wal’kedto the east of the post
to avoid the inevitable fight.

Before the end of July, Major Elliotts’ wife and daughter and two
sons Joined him. The older son had just graduated from West Point, the
younger one, Robert, planned to enter there the next term. The Major
met them at Wingate Station in a Daugherty Wagonl pulled by two mules
anxious to get back to their warm stables. Robert herded his mother and
sister pact a grumbling train crew who resented the extra stop, lrfDcleaq
cold midnight air. (The young West Pcinter joined the family aeperatdy).
The moon waa full, and to the three newcomers it seemed they were fmveli~
at a great clip over barren ground steeped in moonlight deep ●s snow.

The view as seen from their front porch the following morniagchr@
the whole complexion of the adventure, however, at least for Robert. He
loved riding and the surrounding hills offered a paradise of traila and
atreeme to be explored. Accustomed to the pallid, sandcolored buttes of
Fort Robinson, Nebraska, he was much impressed with the magnificent red
ones rising into the clear, bright gkies of New Mexico.

The officers amused themselves by making furniture out of packing
boxes for their quarters, known as “Army Chippendale”. They made tables
●nd chairs, and one officer became so enthusiastic that he made’ himself
a bed; a remarkable piece of furniture, in that it resembledamffin more
than a bed. The rest contented themselves with camp cots, except that
some of the soldiers made a crib for the Lloyds’ baby so rhatak m longer
had to sleep in the locker trunk on top of her mothers’ clothes.

The troops took up a collection to buy cheap uniforms and Some in-
struments for the Mexican Band, who then gave concerts two or three times
a week, always ending with the Mexican National Anthem and the Star
Spangled Banner. The circus performers also put on a show for the troops
One of the officers wives had a pet rabbit which she was asked to loanto
the “Prestidigitator” for his use in the show. Thinking the term meant
something similar to “Taxidermist’’,the poor woman kept insisting ahe did
not want her bunny stuffed. Finally she seemed to understandarddid loan
the rabbit, but with grave doubts as to what might happen to it.

Tha Mexicans were great on fiestas. Each Mexican National holiday
called for an evening of music and speeches. Everyone was invited; of-
ficers, familiea and guests. In the words of Robert Elliott yeara later,
“I suppose other officers and their families went, also, but I can only
recolloct the five Eiliotta sitting on a platform with the Mexican
dignitaries, in a large tent lighted by candles and decorated with paper
atroamars. To me, the proceedings were downright painful; the programe
wera printed In Spaniah, which I could not read; the fiery speeches were
●lao in Spaniah, which I could not understand; and the music was doleful
and repetitious -’highly objectionable to eara Stixnedto the lateet rag-
time.”

~ 1. “A saa-going haok with no springs, of a type much used in the Army
in those days” Robert Elliotts’ description.
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Being a disciplined military familv, they bore it staically, how-
ever, even when Major Elliott had to sit stoney-faced and impassive
while candle grease dripped down on a bcand new serge uniform

Both the water and sewerage systems were old and pipes were con-
tinually bursti-.g. Water c~me by gravity from a small collectingbin
on a hill back of the officers quarters. The small reservoir was below
ground but open at the top, and was covered by a conical shingled roof.
One could walk around the circular concrete tank and look down intota@r
so clear the basin seemed to be empty and only the dropping of a pebble
into the pool broke the illusion.

The water was not what one had a right to expect from it’s limpid-
ness. It was as hard as nails and even with hard-water soap a bathwss
not a thing of luxurious lather, but a covering of the body with a thin
coat of slime to be washed away without much feeling of cleanliness.

Rainwater was at a premium. Every shower sent the ladies of the
post rushing outside with every available pot and pan capable of hold-
ing water, to collect the precious stuff. Then for a day, themmwieely
got out of the way while the quarters were given over to the feminine
task of washing hair.

Sewer pipes were laid not more than eighteen inches below the
ground and when one burst, it completely destroyed the pleasureof sit-
ting in the moonlight on ones front porch.

Major Elliott, reared in San Antonio, Texas, had the usual bomier-
town prejudices. He absolutely would not allow the Mexican woman who
helped his wife,to either cook or use the bathroom. Consequently,she
was forced to use the “Chic Sale” that stood behind the quartera - a
pretty ramshackle affair by any standard - without a door, and opening
out toward the back road. Neither the tijors’ attitude nor the lackof
privacy intimidated her, though. She would sit happily enthroned)
waving gaily to tha enlisted men driving escort wagons down the road
and showering them with vulgarities in Spanish, to which they reapxded
in terms that would do credit to a Jones or Mailer novel.

Mrs. Elliott, a strict moralist, waa shocked to the marrow of her
bones. She blamed her husband for.not having a door put up,dstictly
forbade Robert to go within seeing distance of the outdoor facility.l

One night about midnight, the Elliott family was awakened tygmrds
pounding on their door. It greatly excited the two boys, because in
those daye a Commanding Officer’s sleep was not disturbed except for
mighty good cause. Their visions of a Mexican revolt, blood flowing,
and sudden death about them were shattered by the naws that the guards
wanted to make a surpriee inspection of the camp - they had suspected
some of the Mexicans of attempting to tunnel out and set up permanent
residence in the States. On this particular night, the guards hade=n
priaonere carrying what appeared to be baskets of dirt out of certain
tents and sDxdinu it on the camp streets.
1. If he had not, this account could never have been written for the

history.
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Permission was granted, and by daylight a number of tunnels hadbeen
discovered. One was so far advanced that had the operations not been
discovered within a week, the entire camp could have crawled to freedom.
The Mexicans were put to work caving in the tunnels and filling in the
trenches with crushed stone. The occupants of the tents from which the
tunnels started were incarcerated in an inclosure in the stockade where
obstreperous inmates were placed to cool off and meditate on their sins.

Among the prisoners was one man who had been a bullfighter inMetio~
In the eyes of the soldier guards, he was suffering a severe case of
“Delusions of Grandeur”, considering himself much too important to cbany
of the menial tasks required of the other prisoners, refusing to wear k
work clothes, strutting about and continually assuming Napoleonic poses
for the benefit of other prisoners and guards. Considering him aconstant
threat to the peace and quiet of the place, the guards developedtihabit
of marching him periodically to the cemetary with work groupa, pointedly
taking him past the open grave that was always dug, and reminding him
tl~atthere really were worse things than soiling his hand with a little
honest labor.

A great treat for the ladies of the post was to beg a buckboard and
two mules from the Quartermaster and drive to Gallup. It was qufteatip
over the desert, but they could always get there in time to go to the
little Harvey House lunch room in the railroad station, climb up on the
stools and gorge themselves with the good Harvey food. HOW good that
food did taste after weeks of boredom of GI rations! The tired occu-
pants of the buckboard were always kept awake on the trip back to the
post by the mules shying at rattlesnakes along the road.

One of the Mexican Generals, Romero, died during the summer. He was
buried with full military honors in the old post cemetary. His owntruops
attended inthe forlorn tatters of their uniforms, the United States&OOPS
furnished a tiring aquad, and the Mexican buglers blew Taps. Funeral
wreaths made from the pine trees in the area were placed on his grave.

Among the officers stationed at the fort during this time were Cap-
tain Norton, Captain (later General) Estes, Lt. Drysdale, Lt. Guild and
Lt. Underhill. Underhill waa from Kentucky and craved beaten biscuits,
so he taught Mrs. Lloyd to make them and would often go over to sit on
the porch and help her beat them with an empty beer bottle. There were
alao the Early brothers, Clifford and Jubal, young lieutenants who were
the grandsone of General Jubal Early of Civil War fame. Young Jubal was
drowned while on a duck hunting trip with some friends at Mariano Lake
near Wingate. When their boat became overturned, Jubal went down after
John Young, who had sunk becauae he had hia jacket pockets heavily leaded
with ammunition. In panic, John grabbed Jubal, who was unable to riaem
the surface with the weight of both John and the ammunition, and so both
boys drowned.z
1. Personal memories Jack Howard, Stockton, CalIf., stationed at Fort

Wingate during 1914-15 with the Infantry. He pasaed thru the coun-
try, and stopped at the depot, in 1963 as “The Pony Express, 1963
Model”, with a message from the Governor of California to the Gov-
ernor of Oklahoma.

2. Personal memories Mrs. G. D. H. Lyon, Gallup, New Mexico
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Negotiations between che U. S. and Mexican governments for the re-
turn of these refugees resulted in Mexico agreeing to take back the en-
listed personnel and their women, but the senior officers were afraid
to go back as they were sure they would be shot. They were escorted to

Eagle Pass, Texas9and turned over to the Mexicans. Those who could not
return to Mexico were left in El Paso.
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FORT W’INGATEORDNANCE DEPOT

Toward ‘theclose of World WAI’I, there were some very serious”ex-
plosions o’fmunitions and bther war supplies in anduround New York

Harbor. With the close of the war an energetic movement was startedby
the residents of these ateas to get these supplies moved from their
populous and congested districts.

The War Department, recognizing this, had developed pldnsforaeveml
storage places throughout the country, among them Fort Wingate. The
Ordnance Department took over the reserve in 1918 for the !storage of
high explosives and redesignated it Wingate General Ordnance Depot. At
the time, the depot was handled by two non-commissioned
mounted guards and 13 Indidns.

,.
,,

SeveraI hundred draftees of theNat!ional Army were
Cody at Deming, New’Mexic’oto acb’as a labor battalion.
port Company was sent tipfrom Fort’Apache Ln Arizona,

officers, two

9ant from Camp
A.Motor Ttans-
and later . an

Ordnance”Company was sent in from Raritan Arsenal in New’Jersey. The
Ordnance people arrived about mid-January of 1919. 1 L

-1

P~actically a~lthe railroad sidings east and west of the post,
including the freight yards fuf hundreds of miles in each direceion,
were loaded ‘with freight cars full of TNT awaiting the chance. to be
delivered to Wingate. The railroad people.wkre frantic and citizensof
various towns arDund the yards wete irlpani~. “Heavy pressure was being
exerted to ‘get rid of ~.hesehazards. “ .c’ ‘

Members of the labor battalion and Motor Transport Company started
immediately to unload what iew cars they could, and.a munition dumpww
established four-miles“East of Wingate Stati6n on the north side ofthe
railroad tracks,’toward Peres. Wi.ttithe ar~ival of the Ordnance per-
sonnel and the heTp of a detachment of the U.S. Army Engineera, it was
decided”that a magazine area would be cleared west of the military-d
leading from Wf.ngateStation to ForttWingate, north of the fortariwest
to Rehoboth Mis’eion:’(whldhis near the westbounclary of the military
reservation) and,south oi the rhilr”oadtracks. The”engineers mapped
out this magazine area and sites for the buildings.

>

Sgt. James Kilkenny was placed in charge of all unloading at the
freight:sidings; Ordnance’Sgt. Marvin Jones to thk magazine area in
charge of the unloailingawlstoring of powder at’.themagazine sites. At
first, ~ was.unloadeclfrom cars at theWingateS&ation Spur. Later,
the En”~neers ~leared a dump andqraria railroad s&r from McCune,.just
east of Rehoboth Mission, and across the Rio Puerto, extending tiabout
25 car.lengths couth. ‘At t.h’is’”~pbr,provision% were made for unload-g
15 rai’Ifoadcars at one time, conveying th~,explosive fr%mthe car to
a central dump located about 250 ft. from the railroad track.. At times
there was as much as”7-tb 10 billion pounds of TNT”stored out. in theL
open here.
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During the emergency period, a special train crew and an engine
was aasigned to work with the depot crew. Fifteen carsetatime were
pulled from the Gallup freight yards and spotted on the spur. During
one t,eavyday, 90 cars were unloaded. It was not long, with this an-
centrated effort, until the railroad was able to report that moat of
their freight yarda were clear and the TNT had been removed frcm the
sidings. After that, the crews were able to concentrate their efibrta
on moving the stuff from the dump at the spur co the magazine ●rea,
and still take care of any carloads that arrived at the spur.

The construction of magazines and buildings started afptmximatiy
one mile west of the cite of the present administrative area. ma
buildings were of a temporary nature, wooden, having been used by en-
gineers ●s portable barracka during the war.

As the rngasinae were erected, the powder was tranaportad from
the munitions dump to the magazinea by the Motor Traneport Crzapany,
using Liberty-Naahquad and Jeffquad trucks to do the job. Abaut ●

quarter-million pounds of powder wae stored in ●ach unit. Hazards tmre
numerous, ●nd during the spring thaw it waa ● conmon ●ight to sea 50
to 60 trucks stuck in the mud batwean the railroad 8pur ●nd the
maga%ine ●rea. By 1919 and 1920, a three-strand barbed-wirafice was
erected ●round the megazinoa and by 1924 sufficient guarda hired to

patrol the fence on horeaback night ●nd day. Theee guardc earnad~
❑oney the hard way, particularity. durina the w~nter -tht wh*n
temperature frequently fell to 15 or 20 degree. balow zero, ●nd ●t
luet once (in 1936-37) hit 32 degrees below *ero, with snow two feet
deep on level ground. 14ac Canaichael, who wae later alactad chariff
of McKinley County ●nd killed in ● riot in 1935, was in char8@ddaesa
mounted Suarda. Dee Roberts, who also bmcama sheriff in McKinley
County in later years, waa a member of this guard force.

It was, at that time, the largest etoraga depot of high ●xplo-
aives in tha world. Cattle fr= surrounding ranchem roamed froaly
thrmgh the ●rea, ●everal ranchera having grasing leases with the
gowmrment . Hawing very little reapact for the lethal qualitiaa of
the poder, these cattle etamped through it ●nd over it, ●ven ●n8r-
getically licking ●t it when boxes were broken open. Racorda of tht
hetallation contain several letters from Depot Cownandcre rnWa8hins-
tcm inquiring ●e to their rieht in ●tt~ptins to keep cattle ●bmy from
the ●torege mighta. One particularly plaintive letter dubbed themm
“A perfect mieance.”

A giant uetering out day was held for the drafteeo ●nd other
troope ●t the poet on 30 May 1919. All the company mesa funds ●nd
●urplua monies were pooled to defray ●xpene~e, GelluP citisens were

invited ●twithe calibration lasted from ●arly in tha morning udllatc
that night. (heats ●rrived in ●utomobile, in buuiee, ●nd by ●

●peeiel train nAn by the Santa ?- to Winuatc Station where they were
pickad up by the Ilotor Tranaport Compeny ●nd taken to the fort. _-
tmi~t for the &y included ● Chicken Pull, Indian dances, ●nd a
hmaebell ~ b@ween the military team ●nd the Gibson Miner-.
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. After mustering out, some of the Ordnance men remained in a civi-
lian capacity. Navajos were used as laborers and cowboys and formerG
1.’s were hired as guards. The Motor Company was returned to Arizona

and depot transportation handled by civilians.

All of the civilians were housed and fed at the fort except the
Navajo’s who established their camps in the surrounding hills, trting
back to them after work.

During World War I,problems of supplying arms and ammunition to
troops overseas had forced the Ordnance Department in Washingtonto re-
alize that it must have a more efficient plan of action, reappraiseits
organization and plan for industrial mobilization in the future.Tke-
fore, in 1919, Ordnance responsibilities were realigned on a “subjec-
tive “ basis, meaning by categories of weapons, and out of this rea-
lignment came the Field Service which had charge of all storage de@a,
including Wingate.1

From 1918 to 1920 the depot was coamanded by Major E. C. McCune,
for whom the McCune Railroad Spur into the depot was named, a Major
Waterbury, Captain Harvey A. Clark (1920-21), Warrant Officer John Mc-
Domld (1921-24), a Captain Lewis (1924-28).

By 1921, 163 magazines of portable wooden barracks type and one
underground magazine had been constructed and the post was designti
Wingate Ordnance Reserve Depot. Also in 1921, M. J. Connelly and Co.
entered into a contract with the government to manufacture 9,000,000
cartridge, using picric acid from this depot. Their plant waslocatd
just outside the area fence at the McCune Spur.

In 1919, coal miners in Gallup went out on a strike. New Mexico
Rangars and National Guardsmen were not able to handle the disorders
between striking miners and scabs (strike-breakers) brought in by the
coal companies, so troops of the 8th Cavalry at Fort Bliss were sent
in to establish ●nd maintain martial law.2 These troops camped at the
fair grounds in Gallup, and requisitioned their supplies from Fort
Uingate.

The troops forced the cmnpany storea to remain open during the
strike, but ,thecompanies would not replace stock as it was used, so
mining fqiiies facad an emergency situation concerning food. Sergeant
William H. Brown, of Troop A, contacted the Commanding Officer at the
fort, who sent in Army rations to the soldiers to feed the entire pp-
ulation of Coal Basin for about thraa or four weeks, until the strike
was settled.

Aa part of their efforts to maintain order, troopers in town
raqueated that the strike-breakere leava the Gallup area. They were
laughed at by the Scabe. Then, troopers contactedti mine bosses,who
aEreed to uet rid of the troublemekars, but the bosaas were a little
1. Chaptar II, U.S. Army in World War II, th Ordnance Dept.,

Planning Munitions for War

L 2. Personal memories h. H. Brown, PO Box 117, Alpine, Texas
who resigned from the Army as a Major in 1945.
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slow about it, so one day Troop A took a Browning machine gun down to
the mines, fired a burst of about 5 rounds into the ●ir, ●nd the strike
breakers left in a Ilurry. Erupting fraa mine openings and even air
shafts, they WeIIL running out in every direction over the country~ab-
bing freight traina or any other type of transportation to get out of
the country.

In 1925 a school for Zuni end Navajo children wae established at
the fort, utilizing the ●xioting buildings for clascrooma atddo~~
iea,, and reeervinc certain military houcina for the depot Pereonnel”
Congress ●ppropriated $500,000.00 for the cchool ●nd thare were ~x-
imately 700 children placed in it by the following year. The barracks
ware made into dormitories ●nd the cquare whore coldiere once had dril-
led wcs converted into ● ball field.

In 1928 ●bout 9,000 ●cres of the reservation lying on the north
side of the railroad tracks were turned over to tha Interior Department
as ●n addition to the Navajo Indian Rsoervation. Also inl~ thedept
was changed from a daad #toraga baei8 to an ●ctiva status ●nd ~acking
and mhipping of explosive began in July ●nd ic @till going on ●e re-
quired. The magasinaa ●rea where exploeivae ware stored by tha ArmY
comprised ●bout 5,000 ●eras with 163 storage buildinge. Hoetddm TNT
atorod in these buildings had been shipped in prior to putting up tha
magazines, had been stacked in any flat epot ●vailable bctveentie stir-
●ga sites ●nd Ferea ●nd coverad with tarpaulins, amagh~me 6btturea.

Some of it had been out in the open ● full yaar before it wae
finally placed inside ctora~e, so that it had ●bsorbod iufficientwti-
ture to have caked inside the boxa~. In addition, . g@e had b~ilt
n~ets - tind many had died - inside the boxes with the ●xplosive.Itwas
naceseary to crush tha TNT, to screen out the rate ●nd th~ir neet% ●nd
re-pack it before it could ba ueed. TO do this, hug- wooden rollers
were faahionad of hardwood broumt from Austraiia, turnad bym ●ngine
set WS1l ●way from the building, to prevent ●xplosions caucedby spark
end conrmctad to tho roller by Ions dri- stiftc. After baW cru~h~
the powdsr wae ccraenad ●nd tamped down into new boxee.1

In contract to the procautionc taken with the bngins to prwent
sparke, the Mrkchopo buildin6e wers of frams construction ●nd thamily
heat ●vailable for the bitter winter weather wse furnichcd by .M4 old
pot-bellied etove eat up in the center of the room, Many a firo Waa
kindled ●d fed by pfecea of TtTT-eatureted packing crates, whlle~
TWT shimcrod ●nd dancad ●round the eidce of the ctov~. Surveillance
In@pactor# had nsvar bocn hoard of on tho dapot ●t that time, @o tha
only inopcctions were mad. by occasional visite of ●xperts from Amy
Headquartcro ●t Fort Sam Houston, Taxest Those mon usually took one
horrifiod look ●nd wont bsck hom ohekins their haedst 8mehow, tiQitt
of thesa conditions, thera were no biowc.2 There waet howevert ● maS-
●zinc i$nitcd by Iithtning in 1938, whan tha fir, burned co hot that it
malted tha sand ●round t~me6e8ina, laavint ● glared, Slaee-lika sur-

1.
Officer, 1958, ●nd TedR. Switcer, Misc. Sarvlca8 Officer

2. Blew: ●xplosion
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. thundershuw.:r in t),~r ,:;a.:azl[le t:,ld !t:r’ . ‘ ‘[1($1L}:.:b,)i(of lightning

struck it, an,!sr~10 ,~,,*4+ irlj>,’~cl

In 19’30 there WdS dppK.,XIMdLe~;4!~.000,000pO,lfl,i+or buik explo-
sives stored, vhicn was shipped at the rdce ot’abcmt 5,000,000 lbs.~r
year to picatiuny Arsenal, for loading bombs, dud t.>coast-d d&se
units in th~ Panama Canal Zone, Corregirlocsnd (he Phillipines.At that
time, explosives placards were placed ‘Lowon the doors of rail cars to
facilitate reading by railroad employets. Shortly s.gterone shipment
was received at Picatinny with bullet holes in the placards - showing
that their bright colors had made them ideal for target
rolled through the country - these placards were plaCed

conspicuous spots on che cars in the hope.that L(R next

read before shooting, and live CO shoot d[lOther day, or
would enter the car above the load and do no dam.Sge.

practi~ as they
in high and

narksmdn would
that bullets

A rebuilding program was started in 1936 and the nagazines were
renovated and pldced on concrete foundations at the rate of 15 or 20
per year. AS a magazine was completed, explosives were re-worked and
stored in it, until by 1940 there was some 15,000,000 pounds storedami
ready for use. This comprised the first shipment to BricaintsriFrance
at the beginning of World War 11.

Installation Commander from 1930-32 was Master Sgt. Elmer K. Kemp,
who earned the name “MaLo” Kemp among the Indian workers. He could
speak neither Navajo ~or Spanish, buc did dlscovertkat ~ Indians were
familiar with the Spanish word “MaLo” meaning bad, or sick. Inan~rt
to Ccsmnunicate,he would say the wtdLhtt wa: “Flaio’”- or a job of work
was ‘Melo - Male”, meaning poorly done, 5<?,in the inimitable way of
the Navajo, he becdme “Male” Kemp. [t was Sgt. Kemp wno was-ponsii]!e
for getting government ;en$ian+ far tne i)Ld Nava-ILJ scc!utswhotad~rved
with the army.1 ‘D-,elast of rheqe old scoucq. .IeffKing, who served 28
years with the army, and Ja!ceM~rphy, wh,j:etv~d me sn,~rtenlistment,
was t+tillIivlng in Cnis drea in L960.

Fallowing Kemp W4S Techr,icalSgt. John C. Valignan(1935-37) (cal-
led K’ah gee-eh stii t’>ol, Khaki B~LC~he~, bv r},eNa~djo), Techni,.,al
Sgt. John C. Wilson (Ldter promoted r.oL,e”,rendncand ~hwn to Captain)
under whose crmunandthe entire stock Gt TNT at ihe depot was sold tDth?
British Purchasing Commission for export to Sricaln and Frmce in 1%0.

Although representatives of the Cammissiom had been to the depot
and had secured samples cf the TNT for testirlg,this order hit ~ =11
uorkforca at the depot as.a compl=te surprise. All of their equipment
was obsolete, there were only three old trxks (1 Ford, 1 Dodge, and 1
Reo) available, no materials handling equipment, axcept a roller
veyor with steel rails and wooden roller?, and 1 telephone which

con-
was

operated through the switchboard at.th,efort..

Navajo labpr, to meet the increased workload, was recruited by the
aisrplemethod of looking ovar avdlable applicants,th,osingti~-t
And strongest lookinn &}&en by flashlight for the edrly morning
1. ‘He worked with S. F. Stacher. Indian Agent, on this probl~.

or
‘u
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midnight shift) and pllttingthem to work. Paper work.could come later,
when the shipping order had been met. The task was made even more dif-
ficult by rattlesnakes. It became standard procedure to open themagazine
doors, listen LOr the whirring of rattles, then search through tkbilding
with flashlights before starting operations. Often four or five of the
deadly reptiles were killed in one magazine.

In spite of the lack of equipment, the shipping order was filled on
time, establishing a precedent which has resulted in a record forlhedepot
of never missing a shipping deadline. Crews of six to eight men were
known to load 60 one-hundred-pound boxes of powder by hand in five min-
utes. The first shipment of explosives was on the high seas when the
Battle of Dunkirk occured. That part consigned to France was diverted ~
Britain and played an important part in the grim struggle of the Islefor
survival during the first months of World War II. Some of it was sunkby
submarine action, but a sufficient quantity reached its destination to
enable the Britishers to defend themselves until more supplies and ammu-
nition could be furnished them.

Passage of the Lend-Lease Act in 1941 brought new problems to the
Ordnance Department. Industrial Mobilization Planning in the preceding
20 years had laid the ground carefully so that Ordnance was ready~start
the machinery for large scale procurement, but had not included foreign
aid. Not the least of these problems was the need for depots to store
materiel. Planning through 1940 had been based upon the defense of the
American Continent, without regard to supplying armies overseas. When
the foreign aid program was superimposed on this plan, immediate changes “
and expansion was necessary. Construction began on eight depots inearly
1941. Umatilla, Oregon was activeted first, Wingate next, then Portage,
Ohio and Anniston, Alabama. While not completed, theee four were ready
for use by the time of the attack on Pearl Harbor, and Wingate had u-sier-
gone such an extensive rebuilding and construction program as to be al-

most a new installation.

Surveys had been made for new buildinge in November, 1940,afterCap-
tain Evan M. Johnson IV (1940-42) assumed command of the,depot.ti spring
of 1941 was one of the wettest in the history of New Mexico. Thetwmyors,
hauling their tools about with them in station wagona, soon bogged down
completely efter the raine started. They then took trailers, pulled by
Caterpillar tractors, and buried one of the tractors so deep in the mud
of Area B that it was several weeks before it could be taken out. There
was no transportation left to these men - most of them city.dwellers-ex-
cept horses, and their efforts to stay atop a horse, holding grimly to
their surveying instruments while daylight ehowed between them and the
saddle at every jog of the animal, was a constant source of delighted
amueement to the Indians and cowboy guarde at the depot.l Cons=tion on
the administrative buildings and igloos at the present site started on
Februsry 25, 1941, and was finished on December 5 of that year. The H.rst
shipment of ammunition for storage arrived at this depot from King Pow-
der Co., Kings Mills, Ohio, on October 17, 1941, consisting of several

carloads of spotting charRes for practice bombs. It is interesting to
1. Personal memories, Frank N. Carmichael, employed as a guard at Fort

Wingate Oral.Depot in Dec., 1933. Related in 1960. Ltr in
historical files.
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Witil~S cntrv into World War 11 in 1941, the depot became highly

active, ~~lthin~.~nlingand ouLb~und bhipc’’:”tsclimbing from five carsP~

day in 1941 to 6L3or more Per day in 1943, ‘ith apprOximately 1’550 ci-
vilians and lj oif~cers assigned. S~orage of ammunition other than TNT
began itl1942 whi,jLieutenant Colonel R. S. Barr was in command (Jan .-
Dec. 1942). Colonel BdIr was t-hefirst commander to live in quarters
furnished at the present depot headquarters.

One of {he worst problems encountered during these war years was
maintaining good nouqekeep~ng at Lhe work sites as a part of the safety
program. Ninety percent of the work forr.ewas made up of Navajo Indians,
onlyfiw percent OL whom could speak Engliqh, and to whom sweeping was
squaws work. They refused to have any part of it, and the acciktt rates
were high. The problem was finaLly solved by inducing a Medicine Man,
in full regalia, to come out to the depot and do some sweeping. From

that time ON, the br.+ves swepL with a will ●nd the depot took several

coveted safety awards.

These Indians were most nonchalant in their attitude toward the
ammuniti(m dnd explosives with which they worked, showLng no fear of it
at all, and very Lictie respect for its power to destroy. In spite of
repeactidwarnings Lnat they could be kilLed through careless handlingof
the stuff, one crew was discovered scattering a stack of bombs by simply
pushing them off the srack uith a poLe - it was easier to get to them
when Lhey wtire scactered on the floor than when thtiyrsmained in the
pyramidal stack. As soon aa he caught his breath after wat:ching this
procedure, their super~isor yelled at them, “What’s the matrer with you
people? Don’t ,youknow those things will blow up and wreck this place?’
The silence and ●tcpresslonlessfaces told him his words had receivedno
more atter,tion‘.klistime than ttIeyF,adthe last time, so “hedecided to
try a new appro-at!,.“Whal,”,ha asked them, “Are you going to tell your

sons when they ne~d mm! ammunition and YOU’VU blown it dlwover here?
What are they .goinato fight with, then?” Af’terthe remark was inter-
preted for the Tr,dian~and had been q~iecly discussed among them for a
few minutes, c+,eybegan restacking the bombs, handling them with great
care. Many of their seas were out in the Pacific in the middle of the
fighting - as was the son of the supervisor. Whileithad not impressed
them at all when told that they might be killad themselves, they knew
that a fighting man needs fighting materials. The trouble with rough
handling of ammunition has never been as bad since.

Recruiting took sane doing in thoee days, too. One labor recruiter
from the depot tookr a Lrip onto the reservation hunting Navajo men to
supplement the work force. Sighting a hogan, he stopped to see if there
were any able-bodied man interested ina job and was told that the man
could not possibly leave home. A large bear was raiding the sheep and
~esrinfrUP the cornfield. S~muone had to be there to protect them and

L 1. Personal memories, Frank N. Carmichael, employed as a guard
at Fort WirrgateOral.Depot in Dec., 1933. Related in 1960.
Ltr. in depot historical files.
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since bears are not harmed by Navajos, he was not about to shoot this
one. Two men in neighboring hogans were having the same trouble.
Returning to Gallup, the recruiter acquired a gun and two helpers,
tracked the bear down and shot him. As soon as that little matterwas
safely attended to, so the squaws could take care of the hogan and
sheep, all three men signed on to work at the depot.

Many of the Indian workers had only their Navajo name. Since ths
Navajo language is not written aml the sounds are extremely difficult
to translate into English, it became customary for the people in the
personnel office to give them names for payroll purposes, Hard-put to
think up sufficient different names, they often jokingly named the
wildest Indians after themselves or other people in the office. The
first inspector from Fort Sam Houston was amazed at the practice and
painted lurid verbal pictures of the prison terms awaiting the Local
staff, until he was quieted down by being requested to spell a couple
of Navajo names so they could be entered on the payroll. M? was unable
even to pronaunce them. When time carda were introduced to the depot,
the Indiana who could not read to recognize their cards marked thereat
the top with their cattle brand for identification.

Commande~ during this period included Lt. Col. Clark C. Witman
(1942-46), Lt. Col. Alfred H. Hall (1946-48), Lt. Col. Frank Eccles
(1948-51) and Lt. Col. Kenneth E. Knudson (1952-53).

Staffing fell off abruptly at the end of World War II, butpkked
up again during the years between 1950 and 1954, when the depot Was
engaged in shipping ammunition for the Korean Police Action. Since
then, the depot has been active in the maintenance, modification and
renovation of stored ammunition, to keep it in first class shape and
ready for issue and use by the armed forces at any time. The actual
strength of the depot dropped to around 300 civilians and five conznis-
sioned officers by 1958. Colonel William Menoher waa in command from
1953-55, followed by
nel Robert R. Judson
mand in May, 1959.

Prominent among
assigned ita storage

Colonel Martin F, Shaughnessy (1955-56) andCob-
(1956-59). Lt. Col. Ralph R. Todd assumed com-

the civilian workers from the time the fort was
mission until the 1960’s waa Frances E. Ff.tzgatzick

called Be-la gaun’ah’ts’o (White Man with Big Belly) by the Navajos,
who was named Ordnance Han of the Year in 1957 and was presanted the
Department of the Army Award for Exceptional Meritorious’.~<Civilian
Service in 1958.

Ralph V. Miller, Chief of the Fire Department for many years,m
named the Ordnance Corps Outstanding Civilian Employee in 1959, and
was the candidate from both the Chief of Ordnance and the Chief of
Logistics for the hational Civil Service League Career Service in19%.

Late in 1959, a letter was received from the Chief of Ordnance
congratulating the installation on its 100th anniversary coming up in
August of the next year. Plans were started for a centennial ,cele-
bration to mark the hundred year existence of the post as a military
establishment, beginning aa Fort Fauntleroy with Bear Sprin@s as ita
center, and still existing as Wingate Ordnance Depot.

45



,j,, , ~..,, ;5 ,,, <,, ~[ :,:,, , !., ,!.’r, .ti, ‘,. ,):, >.dm ~ inf.eresrcdin the prG-
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CLJl?lpOSe Ci o: business Inen 4nd :el,r(..,[,~r i~,<~fro!n61r,?a,Jof Indian Af.

lairs, L[leNd.rajodl)d Z’J(IL [LIDCS 4[1,1 wl~.gdte uCCirldIi,-e DepOC, tO pldn

and direct a four-day celebration.

TWO Navajo Indians, former army sco~ts, visited the depot to=slst
in bringing historical data up to date. They were .JeffKing and Jake
Murphy. King hdd served some 28 years as a scout, while Mr. Murphy had
served one 18-month hitch. Due to the difieren,:.ein time served, Mr.
King was chosen to acccmpany the centennial “promoter” on trips to ad-
vertise the celebration. He was taken to Washington and to California.
He also made a number of television appearances.

A picturesque and dignified individual, Mr. King endeared himself
to the cmntry at large and to depot personnel in particular. On his
first visit to the depot he established his birth date as “the early
spring after the Long Walk of the Navajo”) which made him 93 years old
at that time. Somehowj possibly through difficulties in interpretation
or through quick calculations of newsmen, based on a limited knowledge

of history, he grew older with each feature story. He progressed-idly
from 93 to “almost a hundred”, to
to 117. With quiet dignity, King
Asked about it, his answer (given
to talk about that anymore.”

“over a hunderd”, to 103, and finally
simply stopped discussing hik age.
with a half-smile) was “I don’t want

In commemoration of thhi 100-year milestone in the installations
progress, the Department*.of the Army redesignated it Fort Wingate Army
Depot by General Order 13, 3 May 1960.

Orithe evening of August 25, 1960, the centennial program g&under
way with the first presentation of a pageant I’The Spring Still Flow~!iat
a site constructed cm the hill near the depot water tower. Townspeople,
depot employees and Indl.anstook part inthe pageant for four nights with
near capacity crowds of visitors watching.

For three daya after that, the town of Gullup and the depot went
all-out in the relebrati.on. Mock train zobberies and hold-ups fasctited
tourists and children, Stage coaches rumbled through the ~eets. Parade
floata featured all phases of pioneer life ir.this area: Senorita’s
floated about and preened themselves for the admiration of dashingyoung
Caballero’s; pioneer women switched about in long dresses and bonnets,
scolding and laughing aL their bearded and boisterotm men-folk; Irrlians
decked themselves out in all their finery and Laughed silently -at the-.
antica of the white man, occasionally joining in the fun in an

..-.
excess

of sheer good humor. Everyone had a wonderful time.

Col. Carl D. McFerren served as Commending Officer of thedept from
January 1961 to August 196’3.

Ouring 1962, the smoldering fires of racial resentments which had
been breaking out over the entire nation, finally touched Wingate. Saen
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depot employees OE Mexican (or SPanish-American) descent presented
~harges of discrimination against officials of the depot. The charges

listed discrinlnation becudse of race and Ieligion, alleging that pre-
ferential treatment was given to Mormon employees, and singled W WaYne
H. Banks, Civilian Executive Assistant to the Commanding officer) as
the principal offender.

Banks, who had been employed at the depot since 1942, hotly denied
the charges. The Personnel Officer also denied that there was anybis
for the accusations. Almost the entire civilian workforce was soon
caught Up in the controversy, taking sides in the arguments, and feel-
ings ran high.

ln spite of the efforts of officials to eolve the problem on depoG

the State Senator from McKinley County brought up the issue on the fior
of the Senate, adding a charge of laxity in 5ecuritY measures to what
by then was 21 complaints of discriminatory practicee. Two full-scale
investigations were conducted on post. A classified document, sup-
posedly lost, was found misfiled in the security cabinet. The local
investigations upheld the propriety of all personnel actions taken, and
found no basis for the chargee of discrimination.

These investigation reports, with all supporting documents, were
forwarded to higher headquarters for review. In February and March, ‘
1963, a team of investigator from higher headquarters conducted another
series of hearings and investigations on the depot, and in June General
August Schomburg, Commanding General of the U. S. Army Materiel*and,
gave the installation a clean bill of health in the mattar. His letter
to the CcxnmandingOfficer read, in part -

“The investigation conducted during the period from Feb. 28
to March 14, 1963, regarding certain personnel practices at
Fort Wingate. hae established that the allegation were not
substantiated by the facta. . . every charge made by each
complainant was examined exhaustively, all personnel known
to have knowledge pertaining to mattera being investigated
were questioned.”
“All records bearing on the allegation were examined.”
“In no inatanca did the facta support any allegation ofrMs-
crimination, or preferential treatment, Otof impropar pe~~
nel action.”
“Instead, the ●ctions taken were found to be in accord with
Department of the Army and U. S. Civil Service Commission
regulation, and the rights of the individuals were ~t=ted
by law and executive order.”
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CHAPTER V

FOR’rWINGATE MMY DEP!I

On August 1, 1962, Fort Wingate, alc,~gwith over 100 other instal-
lations and activities of the Department of the Army, became a part cf
the new U.S. Army Supply and Maintenance Commandl, when the old techn~-
cal services, including the Ordnance Corps, were discontinued.

This change resulted from the reorganization of the Departm nt of
5

The Army, which established the U.S. Army Materiel Command (AMC) aa a
major field conmand, with the Supply and Maintenance Command (SMC) as a
subordinate class 11 activity under its jurisdiction.3 The same order
which established SMC placed Fort Wingate within its jurisdiction.

General Order 51, 21 August 1962, Department of the Anmy, redesig-
nated the depot Fort Wingate Army Depot”. No eaaential changea w?remade
in the mieaion or functione of the installation aa a result of this re-
organization, the primary difference being that reports were made to a
different headquarters,

Auguet 1, 1963, Lt. Colonel Manley A. D’Albini aaeumed Comand of
the depot.4 A few weeks after hia arrival, he waa promoted from Lt.
Colonel to Colonel.5

About midyear of 1963, plana were announced by White SandaMiaaile
Range, New Mexico, to uee Fort Wingate Army Depot as a site for teet
firings of the Pershing Missile. This was to be a teet of the mcbility
and accuracy of the entire eystem.

%
Th Pershing, a selective range missile powered by a solid pro-

pellant , wae planned and designed to be easy to handle by a few men,ta
be speedily set up and fired, then moved on to a new firing site. This

latter ability earned the nickname “Shoot and Scoot” for the Pershing
system.’ Ite goal “Every Pershing in the Pickle Barrel” came from the
fact that the nose of a Pershing Miseile fitted nicely into
barre18

a pickle
- and the battalions trained to field test and operateth~ stem

1. Letter of Welcome, 6 July 1962, from Lt. Gen. August Schomburg,
filed in depot historical files.

2. GO 23, 4 Hay 1962, Department of the Army
3. ,GO46, 25 July 1962, Department of the Army
4. GO 3, 1 August 1963, Ft Wingate Army Depot, in depot historical

files.
5, SO 265, October 1963, Department of the Army
6. Mechanical fuel plus an oxidizer that allowe it to burn ●t ● faat

rate and high temperature, with both ingredients mixed together
in the missile motor case ●nd allowed to harden.

7. Vieitor Briefing Pamphlet, White Sande Miesile Range, filed in
depot historical files.

8. Every Pershing in the Pickle Barrel, Lt. Col. P,W. Power, Army
information Digeet, February 1964.
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From March to October of 1963. ~},e~e~t.flr[ng units traveled a

route that took them from O!clah,vnarc race Cij~averal,to tk.e wilda of
Utah and the mountains of New Mexi::o.1 Major Jam=+ T. Wortham, Fort
Sill, Oklahoma, visited Blanding, Utah, and Fort Wingate in Jute to
finalize administrative and logistical support plans required for the
firing phase of the Pershing Service f~sr. At Wingate, arrangements
were made for billets, telephone s+rvice, automotive field maintenance
and other administrative services. Laundry and post exchange and Com-
missary services to be furnished by SdndL.s Base, Albuquerque, was ar-
ranged by Fort Wingate Army Depot.

Other Pershing personn~l .~isitedthe deuot frequently after that,
and White Sands people worked fever..shlyputting up communications,
tracking devices, etc. in the McGaffey area. Finally, on October 8,
shortly before 1600 hours, the filst vehlcl=s of the convoy from the
2nd Missile Battalion, 44th Artillery, Fort Sill, rolled through the
depot entrance. They came from 61a1,ding, U?ah: where the first shots
in this series of tests had been fired.

.

To moat of the civilians on post: accustomed to the quiet routine
of a primarily civilian operation or,a smali depot, the experience of
having t oops moving about all day was eiccictr.gand stimulating. Even

5

.

Re-Pete, the depot pet deer, found life more interesting and grew fat
and saucy on the feeding and pampering handed out by the troops.

At one of the first briefings held on pI)sL to coordinate actities
of the depot and t’-e troops, Col. D’AlblnL announced, “I wane itclearly
understood that the deer yOIIwill see iv .ne Administrative Area cflhis
post is a depot residKnt. If she should, by some strange chance,erdq
in a stewpot, I guarantee there will be heads rolling around here.”
Thereafter, Re-Pete established h.r ne.ddqudr?e[S mighty close to the
messing areas, and pranced gaily along behind. in front o% and among
details as they went about their duties, making such a general nuisancx!
of herself that temptation for ihe ccoks and nonconunissioned officers
waa great.

The Pershing shots from Forr-Wingate ~ere considered mid-range
firings for the system. Long-range Firlr,gshad been made from Utah.

Three missiles were fired in October, all successfully, bytl-e2nd
and 44th, for impact at White Sands Missile Range.
1. Every Pershi~g in the Pickle Barrel, Army Info. Digest, Feb., 1964
2. Orphaned fawns were brought onto the depot.for safe keeping during
the fall of the year. The first one was named “Pete”. The second one,
so similar in size and markings, was jokingly dubbed ‘Re-Pete” bychil-
dren on post, and the name stuck. Pete took to the woods when he was
old enough, but Re-Pete knew a good thing when she found it and reso-
lutely refused to’leave the”area.



4 Re-entry
1st Stage Burnaut )

~

Pe~~ 0veriamd Firings
A- A on D@eet, Feb., 1%4

a convoy from the 4th Missile Battalion, 41st Arti.l-On Nuvaher 6,
Iery, ●rrived at the depot, In the aext few w~ka, they la~nched fkve

more mismllae aimed at the “Pickle barrel” propped up in the desertsa~s
to ew8it ita fate. All were successful except one, which blew up in the
air just as the second stage cut in.

When the m;asilemen pulled out early in December, they left thedepot
strangely quiet and empty. The word was out, however, that Wingate was
to become a permanent site for such test firings, so depot personnel~t-
tled back into their routine operationa and waited for the next arrivals.

During the next three or four years, several different misailea~re
firad frmthe depot, but none that required bringing in large numbers of
troope again.

Colonel Edvard J. Klooa replaced Col. D’Albini as Commanding O&ic.er
in Octaber 1%5. The folloving June (1966) the depot began to feel the

Lncreaaed tempo of military operations in South Vietnam, shipping 3,200
tons of ●aanunition. Shipping workloada climbed steadily through the~-

mainder of 1%6, with only occaaiorualslack periods, and reached an all.
. time high of 14,622 tona ahippei during April, 1968. Department of Army

had imposed an ●ustarity program on all installetiona in an effort ~ca-
trol coats, ao while the workload was increasing, the number of people
hired to ecc~liah it decreaaed steadily.

Personnel ceilings dropped from 438 in June 1966, to 362 in July
1%7 when Col. William C. Ohl aaaumed command of the depot. By April of
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1968 there were only
ments.

A small herd of
or three years when,

335 employees to handle Ehe record-breaking ship-

antelope had been Lranspla[lted Lo the depocbr two
in 1966, ten buffalo were brought in and turned

loose inside the manproof fence. Both herds were tie result of coop-
eration between the depot and state and national conservation people.
More animals were brought in and-added to the buffalo herd until itm.m-
bered 53 in the early spring of 1968 when several members of the New
Mexico Game and Fish Department joined depot personnel in a “buffalo
rmnd-up”. The idea waa to see if the animals could be.herded intocct-
rals, like cattle, for branding and irmnunizationshots. There were 10
or 12 members of the round-up crew when they all mounted their horses
and took to the back country. By noon, it had becune apparent that
buffalo differ from cattle - the only herding done was by the buffalo,
who knew where they didn’t want to go, if nothing else, and simply
crbwded the horsemen out of their way. A tired a~d hungry bunch of
“Buffalo-Boys” gathe,~~~itist~~>st restaurant at-noon, and.amid gusts
of laughter at theie ‘ownpredicament, admitted to the world that the
mangy-looking critters had them beat to a standstill. Nothing else-
heard abQut corrsling the beasts, especially after the cowe began calv-
ing and if~ded all curious humana with jaundiced eyes.

Shipments of ammunition to Vietnam continue while Dlans are being
made to receive and store’new
the demands of combat units,

issue material in the igl~oa emptied by
b
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JEFF KING
“Nat-eh-Ash-Tsha”lyee”

(Chief B&gMan)
...

Jeff King, Army Scout, who served his
country more than 30 years and corltri-
buted much to the compilation of this
history, died 17 January 1964 at theUS.
Public Health Service Hospital iti Gal-
lup.

He was b{lriedwith full military honors
in Arlington National Cemetary, Wash-
ington, D.C., January 24, 1964,The ser-
vices were attended by Wilson Halonaatd
Leo Haven, Navajo Tribal Councilmen,
Mr. & Mrs. Leon Curley of Pindale, New
Mexico (Mrs. Curley is Kings‘ grand?
daughter), New Mexico’s Senator, Edwin
1..Mechem, Mr.& Mrs. Glenn Emmons, (Ex
Commissioner of Indian Affairs), the
Deputy Conrnissionerof Indian Affairs,
Major Gen. Kyser, Twelve Army Colonels
and Lt. Colonels, and by Wayne H. Banka,
former Executive Assistant of Fort Win-
gate Army Depot.
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